#### THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

# Analysis of Cell-Induced Reovirus Conformational Change and Identification of a Putative Second Reovirus Receptor

by

John L. Fernandes

**A THESIS** 

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

#### DEPARTMENT OF MICROBIOLOGY AND INFECTIOUS DISEASES

CALGARY, ALBERTA

AUGUST, 1994

<sup>©</sup>John L. Fernandes 1994



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

THE AUTHOR HAS GRANTED AN IRREVOCABLE NON-EXCLUSIVE LICENCE ALLOWING THE NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA TO REPRODUCE, LOAN, DISTRIBUTE OR SELL COPIES OF HIS/HER THESIS BY ANY MEANS AND IN ANY FORM OR ' FORMAT, MAKING THIS THESIS AVAILABLE TO INTERESTED PERSONS. L'AUTEUR A ACCORDE UNE LICENCE IRREVOCABLE ET NON EXCLUSIVE PERMETTANT A LA BIBLIOTHEQUE NATIONALE DU CANADA DE REPRODUIRE, PRETER, DISTRIBUER OU VENDRE DES COPIES DE SA THESE DE QUELQUE MANIERE ET SOUS QUELQUE FORME QUE CE SOIT POUR METTRE DES EXEMPLAIRES DE CETTE THESE A LA DISPOSITION DES PERSONNE INTERESSEES.

THE AUTHOR RETAINS OWNERSHIP OF THE COPYRIGHT IN HIS/HER THESIS. NEITHER THE THESIS NOR SUBSTANTIAL EXTRACTS FROM IT MAY BE PRINTED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED WITHOUT HIS/HER PERMISSION.

Janada

L'AUTEUR CONSERVE LA PROPRIETE DU DROIT D'AUTEUR QUI PROTEGE SA THESE. NI LA THESE NI DES EXTRAITS SUBSTANTIELS DE CELLE-CI NE DOIVENT ETRE IMPRIMES OU AUTREMENT REPRODUITS SANS SON AUTORISATION.

ISBN 0-315-99353-7

Name a - 1A

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

L 0 SUBJECT CODE SUBJECT TERM

1

#### **Subject Categories**

#### THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

COMMUNICATIONS AND THE A	RTS
Architecture	0729
Art History	0377
Cinema	0900
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	0357
Information Science	0723
Journalism	0391
Library Science	0399
Mass Communications	0708
Music	0413
Speech Communication	0459
Theater	0465

#### EDUCATION

General	051	5
Administration	051	4
Adult and Continuing	051	6
Agricultural	051	Ž
Art	027	'3
Bilingual and Multicultural	028	2
Business	028	Ŕ
Community College	027	5
Curriculum and Instruction	072	57
Eady Childhood	051	ά
Elementary	051	2
Elementary	032	
Ciller Contraction	02/	6
Guidance and Counseling	051	2
Health	200	SO IS
Higher	0/4	iS.
History of	052	<u>v</u>
Home Economics	027	8
Industrial	052	21
Language and Literature	027	'9
Mathematics	028	80
Music	052	22
Philosophy of	099	8
Physical	052	23

Psychology ..... Reading ..... Religious ..... 0525 0535 0527 Sciences Secondary Social Sciences 0714 0533 0534 

#### LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND LINGUISTICS

Language	
General	.0679
Ancient	.0289
Linguistics	.0290
Modern	.0291
Literature	
General	.0401
Classical	.0294
Comparative	0295
Medieval	0297
Modern	0298
African	0316
American	0591
Asian	0305
Canadian (English)	0352
Concion (French)	0355
Fnalish	0593
Germanic	0311
Latin American	0312
Middle Fostern	0315
Pomance	0313
Slavic and Fast European	0314
Slavic and Lasi Lutopeun	.0514

#### THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

#### **BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES**

Agriculture	
General	.0473
Agronomy	0285
Animal Culture and	
Nutrition	0475
Anton Dath alson	0475
Animai Pamology	.04/0
Food Science and	
Technology	.0359
Forestry and Wildlife	.0478
Plant Culture	.0479
Plant Pathology	0480
Plant Physiology	0017
Flam Flysiology	.0017
Kange Management	.0///
Wood lechnology	.0/46
Biology	
Géneral	.0306
Anatomy	.0287
Biostatistics	0308
Botony	00000
C-ll	0370
	.03/7
Ecology	.0329
Entomology	0353
Genetics	.0369
Limnology	.0793
Microbiology	.0410
Molecular	0307
Nouroscience	0317
	0414
Oceanography	.0410
Physiology	.0433
Radiation	.0821
Veterinary Science	.0778
Zoology	.0472
Biophysics	
General	0786
Modical	0740
	,
EADTH COENCES	
EARTH SUERCES	0.405
Biogeocnemistry	.0425
Geochemistry	.0996

Geodesy	.03/0
Geology	.0372
Geophysics	.0373
Hydrology	.0388
Mineralogy	.0411
Paleobotany	.0345
Paleoecoloay	.0426
Paleontology	.0418
Paleozoology	.0985
Palynology	.0427
Physical Geography	.0368
Physical Oceanography	.0415
,	

#### **HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL** SC

SCIENCES	
Environmental Sciences	0768
Health Sciences	
General	.0566
Audiology	.0300
Chemotherapy	0992
Dentistry	0567
Education	0350
Hospital Management	.0769
Human Development	0758
Immunology	0982
Medicine and Surgery	0564
Mental Health	.0347
Nursing	0569
Nutrition	.0570
Obstetrics and Gynecology	0380
Occupational Health and	
Iherapy	0354
Ophthalmology	0381
Pathology	05/1
Pharmacology	0419
Pharmacy	05/2
Physical Therapy	0382
Public riedin	05/3
	05/4
Recreation	.05/5

#### PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND

THEOLOGY	
hilosophy	0422
Religion	
General	0318
Biblical Studies	0321
Clergy	0319
History of	0320
Philosophy of	0322
Theology	0469

#### SOCIAL SCIENCES

DO SIVE O SERVICE	
American Studies	0323
Anthropology	
Archaeology	0324
Cultural	0326
Physical	0327
Business Administration	
General	0310
Accounting	0272
Accounting	02/2
Banking	0//0
Management	0454
Marketing	0338
Canadian Studies	0385
Economics	
General	0501
Agricultural	0503
Commoreo-Businose	0505
Commerce-business	0505
Finance	0508
History	0509
Labor	0510
Theory	0511
Folklore	0358
Geography	0366
Gerontology	0351
Histon	
Conoral	0570
1 70647 1647 6 11	

Ancient	0570
Maaltaval	05/7
Medieval	0201
Modern	0582
Black	.0328
African	.0331
Asia. Australia and Oceania	0332
Canadian	0334
Furopean	0335
Lotio Amorican	00000
	0330
Midale Eastern	0333
United States	.033/
History of Science	.0585
Law	.0398
Political Science	
General	.0615
International law and	
Relations	0616
Public Administration	0617
Pocroation	0814
Seciel Mork	0452
Social work	.0452
Sociology	~~~~
General	. 0020
Criminology and Penology	.062/
Demography	.0938
Ethnic and Racial Studies	.0631
Individual and Family	
Studies	.0628
Industrial and Labor	
Relations	0629
Public and Social Welfare	0220
Social Structure and	. 0000
Social Siruciure and	0700
Development	0/00
Ineory and Methods	.0344
Iransportation	.0709
Urban and Regional Planning	.0999
Women's Studies	0453

# Speech Pathology ......0460 Toxicology ......0383 Home Economics ......0386

#### **PHYSICAL SCIENCES**

#### Pure Sciences

nemistry
General
Agricultural0749
Analytical0486
Biochemistry0487
Inorganic
Nuclear
Organic 0490
Pharmaceutical 0491
Physical 0494
Polymer 0495
Padiation 0754
Anthematica 0405
nysics 0(05
General
Acoustics
Astronomy and
Astrophysics
Atmospheric Science
Atomic0748
Electronics and Electricity 0607
Elementary Particles and
High Energy
Fluid and Plasma
Molecular 0609
Nuclear 0610
Optics 0752
Padiation 0756
Solid State 0611
Julisius
Applied Sciences
Applied Mechanics
Omputer Science 0984

#### **PSYCHOLOGY**

General	
Behavioral	0384
Clinical	
Developmental	
Experimental	
Industrial	
Personality	
Physiologícal	
Psýchobiology	
Psychometrics	
Social	

œ

Nom

Dissertation Abstracts International est organisé en catégories de sujets. Veuillez s.v.p. choisir le sujet qui décrit le mieux votre thèse et inscrivez le code numérique approprié dans l'espace réservé ci-dessous.

SUJET

#### Catégories par sujets

#### HUMANITÉS ET SCIENCES SOCIALES

#### **COMMUNICATIONS ET LES ARTS**

Architecture	.0729
Beaux-arts	.0357
Bibliothéconomie	.0399
Cinéma	.0900
Communication verbale	.0459
Communications	.0708
Danse	.0378
Histoire de l'art	.0377
Journalisme	.0391
Musiaue	.0413
Sciences de l'information	.0723
Théâtre	0465

#### ÉDUCATION

Généralités	515
Administration	.0514
Art	.0273
Collèges communautaires	.0275
Commerce	.0688
Économie domestique	.0278
Education permanente	.0516
Education préscolaire	.0518
Education sanitaire	.0680
Enseignement agricole	.0517
Enseignement bilingue et	
multiculturel	.0282
Enseignement industriel	.0521
Enseignement primaire	.0524
Enseignement professionnel	.0747
Enseignement religieux	.0527
Enseignement secondaire	.0533
Enseignement spécial	.0529
Enseignement supérieur	.0745
Evaluation	0288
Finances	.0277
Formation des enseignants	.0530
Histoire de l'éducation	.0520
Langues et littérature	.0279

#### SCIENCES ET INGÉNIERIE

#### **SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES**

Aariculture		
Généralités	.0473	3
Agronomie.	0285	5
Alimentation et technologie		
alimentaire	0359	2
Culture	0470	Ś
Eloyago of alimontation	0474	Ś
Evaluitation des néturanes	0777	,
Dail al ata main al	0171	è
Pathologie animale	04/0	?
ramologie vegerale	0480	) 7
Physiologie vegetale	0817	ί.
Sylviculture et toune	.04/8	ş
lechnologie du bois	0/46	د
Biologie		
Généralités	0306	ذ
Anatomie	0287	7
Biologie (Statistiques)	.0308	3
Biologie moléculaire	0307	7
Botanique	0309	,
Cellule	0379	>
Écologie	0329	,
Entomologie	0353	3
Génétique	0369	>
Limnologie	0793	3
Microbiologie	0410	ý
Neurologie	0317	,
Océanographie	0416	ś
Physiologie	0433	ź
Padiation	0021	í
Seience vétéringire	0770	,
Zeelesie	0//0	;
	04/2	•
piopinysique	070/	,
Generalites	0/80	2
Medicale	0/60	)
CIENCES DE LA TERRE		

#### res ne

biogeochimie	0425
Géochimie	0996
Géodésie	0370
Géographie physique	0368

# Lecture 0535 Mathématiques 0280 Musique 0522 Orientation et consultation 0519 Philosophie de l'éducation 0998 Physique 0523 Programmes d'études et enseignement 0727 Psychologie 0525 Sciences 0714 Sciences sociales 0534 Sociologie de l'éducation 0340 Technologie 0710

#### LANGUE, LITTÉRATURE ET

LINGUISTIQUE Lo

Langues	
Généralités	.0679
Anciennes	.0289
Linguistique	.0290
Modernes	.0291
Littérature	
Généralités	.0401
Anciennes	.0294
Comparée	.0295
Mediévale	0297
Moderne	0298
Africaine	0316
Américaine	0591
Anglaise	0593
Asiatique	0305
Canadienne (Analaise)	0352
Canadienne (Française)	0355
Germanique	0311
Latino-américaine	0312
Moyen-orientale	.0315
Romane	.0313
Slave et est-européenne	0314
•	

#### **PHILOSOPHIE, RELIGION ET**

Philosophie	0422
Religion	0318
Çlergé	0319
Etudes bibliques Histoire des religions	0321
Philosophie de la religion .	0322

#### **SCIENCES SOCIALES**

Anthropologie	
Archéologie	0324
Culturalla	0326
Develope	0320
	032/
2roir	0398
conomie	
Généralités	0501
Commerce-Altaires	0505
Économie agricole	0503
Économie du travail	0510
Finances	0508
Histoiro	0500
Théorie	0507
	0011
tudes americaines	0323
tudes canadiennes	0385
tudes téministes	0453
olklore	0358
Géographie	0366
Gérontologie	0351
Sestion des affaires	
Généralités	0310
Administration	0310
Remaining and a second	0434
banques	0//0
Comptabilite	02/2
Marketing	0338
listoire	
Histoire générale	0578

Ancienne	.0579
Médiévale	.0581
Moderne	.0582
Histoire des noirs	.0328
Africaine	.0331
Çanadienne	.0334
Etats-Unis	.0337
Européenne	.0335
Moyen-orientale	.0333
Latino-américaine	.0336
Asie, Australie et Océanie	.0332
Histoire des sciences	.0585
Loisirs	.0814
Planification urbaine et	
régionale	.0999
Science politique	
Généralités	.0615
Administration publique	.0617
Droit et relations	
internationales	.0616
Sociologie	
Généralités	.0626
Aide et bien àtre social	.0630
Criminologie et	
établissements	
pénitentigires	.0627
Démographie	.0938
Etudes de l' individu et	
<u>,</u> de la tamille	.0628
Etudes des relations	
interethniques et	
des relations raciales	.0631
Structure et développement	
social	.0700
Théorie et méthodes	.0344
Travail et relations	
industrielles	.0629
Transports	0709
travail social	.0452

CODE DE SUJET

'n T

# Paléoécologie 0426 Paléoécologie 0426 Paléontologie 0418 Paléozoologie 0985 Palynologie 0427

#### SCIENCES DE LA SANTÉ ET DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT

Économie domestique Sciences de l'environnement Sciences de la santé	0386 0768
Généralités	0566
Administration des hipitaux	0769
Alimentation et nutrition	0570
Audiologie	0300
Chimiothéropie	0992
Dentisterie	0567
Développement humain	0758
Enseignement	0350
Immunologie	0982
loisirs	0575
Médecine du travail et	0010
théranie	0354
Médecine et chirurgie	0564
Obstétrique et avnécologie	0380
Ophtalmologie	0381
Orthophonie	0340
Pathologia	0571
Pharmacia	0572
Pharmacologio	0110
Phyriotháronia	0392
Padiologio	0574
Santá mentale	03/4
Santé publique	0573
Soins infirmiers	0569
Toxicologie	0383
TOXICOIOgie	0000

#### SCIENCES PHYSIQUES **Sciences Pures**

Thimie	
Genéralités	0485
Biochimie	187
Chimie agricole	0749
Chimie analytique	0/86
Chimie minérale	0488
Chimie nuclégire	0738
Chimie organique	0,00
Chimie obgringre	0401
Physique	0494
PolymCres	0405
Radiation	0754
Aathématiques	0/05
hysique	
Généralités	0605
Acoustique	0986
Astronomie et	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
astrophysique	0606
Electronique et électricité	0607
Fluides et plasma	0759
Météorologie	0608
Optique	0752
Particules (Physique	
nuclégire)	0798
Physique atomique	0748
Physique de l'état solide	0611
Physique moléculaire	0609
Physique nucléaire	0610
Radiation	.0756
itatistiques	.0463
ainmana Annlinuda Es	
ciences Appliques Er	
echnologie	0004
ntormatique	.0984
	0507
Agricala	.053/
Automobile	.0539
	.0540

# **PSYCHOLOGIE**

Généralités	0621
Personnalité	0625
Psychobiologie	0349
Psychologie clinique	0622
Psychologie du comportement	0384
Psychologie du développement	0620
Psychologie expérimentale	0623
Psychologie industrielle	0624
Psychologie physiologique	0989
Psychologie sociale	0451
Psychométrie	0632

# THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled "Analysis of Cell-Induced Reovirus Conformational Change and Identification of a Putative Second Reovirus Receptor" submitted by John L. Fernandes in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Supervisor, Dr. P.W.K. Lee Department of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases

Mkapon

Dr. M. Kapoor Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. D. Fujita Department of Medical Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

Dr. D. Bazett-Jones Department of Anatomy/Medical Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

#### Abstract

Conformational changes in reovirus capsid proteins were detected upon virus attachment to cells. A conformational change was additionally detected in the reovirus attachment protein,  $\sigma$ 1, and mapped to the N-terminus of this protein by deletion mutagenesis. Conformational changes in all reovirus proteins were found to be reversible and dependent upon virus (or  $\sigma$ 1) interaction with sialic acid - the minimal determinant necessary for virus attachment. Subsequent investigation revealed a protein from L cell membrane that specifically bound reovirus with inreased affinity upon virus alteration by sialic acid. This protein was identified as Annexin VI. Binding of reovirus to a low-affinity receptor, followed by a conformational change and binding to a high affinity receptor may be key steps in the programmed disassembly and entry of reovirus to susceptible cells.

#### Acknowledgements

My Supervisor, Dr. Patrick Lee.

My Committee members and examiners, Dr. M. Kapoor, Dr. D. Fujita, and Dr. D. Bazzet-Jones, for their councelling and support.

Dr. Duff Horne, Dr. Shamsi Shahrabadi, and Dr. Peter Jones for their councelling, intellectual stimulation and their support.

The Department of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, including Dr. Don Woods (Department Head and Graduate Student Advisor) and Dr. Pam Sokol (Assistant Dean).

My Mother and Step-Father, Lucy and Mike Czarnecki; My Father, John Fernandes.

My Grandparents, Jan and Maria Sendewicz for their support and their inspiring insights throughout my years.

My Parents-in-Law, Barbara and Gordon McArthur, for their unquestioning and never-ending support, and for providing me with the most intriguing clone of my experience: my wife, Paige.

My other Grandparents, Roy and Joan Thoreson.

My lovely wife, Paige, for all her dedication, love, support, encouragement, and understanding. And for sharing me so generously with the lab.

Dedicated to my Wife, Paige, for marrying a poor starving student, and for supporting him with a great deal of love, respect and understanding throughout his education.

•

#### **Table of Contents**

.

Page
------

App Abs Act Dec Tak Lis Lis Lis Epi	proval Page stract knowledgemen dication ble of Contents t of Tables t of Figures tt of Abbrevial igraph	nts s tions	ii iii iv v vi xi xii xii xiv
Intr	roduction		1
Ove	erview		2
1	Virus-Cell F	Receptor Interactions.	3
2	Virus Attach 2.1 2.2 2.3	nment Proteins. Influenza Virus. Poliovirus. Adenovirus.	4 4 5 6
3	Virus Confo 3.1 3.2 3.3	ormational Changes. Influenza Virus. Picornavirus. Adenovirus.	7 7 8 9
4	Virus Recep	otors.	10
5	Annexin Pro	oteins in Virus-Cell Interactions.	12
6	Annexin Pro	oteins as Virus Receptors.	12

7	Annexin Str	ucture and Function.	14
	7.1	Members of the Annexin Family.	14
	7.2	Common Domains in the Annexins.	16
	7.3	Annexin V Structure.	18
8	Annexin VI.		20
	8.1	Tissue and Intracellular Distribution of Annexin VI.	22
	8.2	Annexin VI in Calcium Binding.	23
	8.3	Annexin VI in Binding of Lipid Membranes.	24
	8.4	Phosphorylation of Annexin VI.	25
	8.5	Function of Annexin VI.	26
9	Reovirus.		27
	9.1	Reovirus Molecular Structure.	27
	9.2	Structure and Function of the S1 Gene Product $\sigma$ 1.	29
	9.3	Tissue Tropism and Virus-Cell Interactions.	31
	9.4	The Reovirus Receptor.	32
10	The Resear	ch Project.	33
Meth	nods and Mate	erials	35
1	Cell Culture	Procedures	36
	1.1	Cultivation of L Cells.	36
	1.2	Propagation of Virus.	37
	1.3	Harvesting of Virus from Infected Cells.	38
	1.4	Plaque Titration of Reovirus.	39
	1.5	Preparation of a Reovirus Column.	40
	1.6	L Cell Binding Assay.	41
	1.7	Storage of Cells for Tissue Culture.	42

.

Page <sup>-</sup>

#### <u>Page</u>

	1.8	Lysis of Cells.	42
	1.9	Isolation of Cell Membranes.	43
	1.10	Binding of Reovirus or $\sigma$ 1 Protein to L cells and	
		Plasma Membrane.	43
	1.11	Fixing of Cells to Plates with Glutaraldehyde.	44
	1.12	Preparation of [ <sup>35</sup> S]methionine Labeled Reovirus.	44
2	Routine Pro	cedures.	45
	2.1	In Vitro Transcription (o1 and dll in Conformational	
		Change Studies).	45
	2.2	In Vitro Transcription (Recombinant	
		Annexin VI and $\sigma$ 1).	46
	2.3	In Vitro Translation.	47
	2.4	Radioimmunoprecipitation.	47
	2.5	Radioiodination of Proteins.	48
3	Antisera.		49
4	Electrophore	esis and Gel Processing.	49
	4.1	Sodium Dodecyl-Sulphate Polyacrylamide Gel	
		Electrophoresis of Proteins (SDS-PAGE).	49
	4.2	Processing of SDS-PAGE Gels.	50
	4.3	Coomassie Staining.	51
	4.4	Agarose Gel electrophoresis.	51
5	Cloning and	Bacteriology Protocols.	52
	5.1	Propagation and Storage of Bacterial Cells	
		and Plasmids.	52
	5.2	Large Scale Preparation of Plasmid DNA.	53
	5.3	Small Scale Preparation of Plasmid DNA.	55

#### <u>Page</u>

	5.4	Restriction Endonuclease Digestion.	57
	5.5	Agarose Gel Purification of Restriction	
		Endonuclease Fragments.	58
	5.6	T4 DNA Ligase Reactions.	59
	5.7	Preparation of Competent Cells.	59
	5.8	Transformation of <u>E</u> . <u>coli</u> .	60
Results	;		61
Part I	Conf	ormational Change in Reovirus.	62
6 Ir	ntroduction		62
	6.1	Cell Binding-Induced Conformational	
		Change in Reovirus.	63
	6.2	Cell-Induced Conformational Change	
		in Reovirus is Reversible.	64
	6.3	Cell Binding Induces Conformational	
		Change in $\sigma$ 1.	69
	6.4	Cell Binding Enhances Stability of the N-terminal	
		α-Helical Coiled Coil.	72
	6.5	Sialic Acid-Binding Induces Conformational	
		Change in $\sigma$ 1.	77
	6.6	Discussion.	82
Part II	The S	Second Reovirus Receptor.	88
7 lı	ntroduction		88

•

#### <u>Page</u>

	7.1	Isolation of a 68 kDa Protein from Mouse	
		L-929 Cell Fibroblasts.	89
	7.2	Sialic Acid Enhanced Recovery of the 68 kDa	
		Protein from a Reovirus Column.	95
	7.3	Sialic Acid Enhanced Binding of Reovirus to p68.	98
	7.4	Preliminary Identification of p68 by an	
		Annexin VI-Specific Antibody.	98
	7.5	Aggregation of p68 and Annexin VI by Calcium.	101
	7.6	Sub-cloning of Human Recombinant Annexin VI.	104
	7.7	Interaction Between Recombinant Annexin VI	
		and Reovirus is Enhanced by Sialic Acid.	107
	7.8	Cotranslation of Recombinant Human	
		Annexin VI and Reovirus Protein $\sigma$ 1.	109
	7.9	Lack of Interaction between Recombinant	
		Proteins $\sigma$ 1 and Annexin VI.	112
	7.10	Amino Acid Composition Analysis Reveals	
		Similarity Between p68 and Annexin VI.	117
	7.11	Reovirus is Cross-linked to the Cell Cytoskeleton.	118
	7.12	Discussion.	122
Discussion	and F	uture Prosects	130
References			135

•

#### List of Tables

		<u>Page</u>
Table 1	Cell Surface Molecules Serving as Virus Receptors.	11
Table 2	Nomenclature of the Annexins.	15
Table 3	Amino Acid Compositions and % Compositions of Murine	
	Annexin VI and p68.	119

.

# List of Figures

### <u>Page</u>

Figure 1	Schematic Showing the Common C- and N-terminal Domains of Several Annexins.	17
Figure 2	Model of Annexin V Domain Arrangement Predicted from X-ray Crystallographic Data.	19
Figure 3	Diagram of a Possible Planar Arrangement of the 8 Domains of Annexin VI.	21
Figure 4	Pepsin Digestion of Prebound, Cell-bound and Membrane-bound Reovirus.	65
Figure 5	Pepsin Digestion of Prebound and Fixed Cell-bound Reovirus.	67
Figure 6	Pepsin Digestion of Cell-bound and Released Reovirus.	70
Figure 7	Chymotrypsin Digestion of Prebound and Cell-bound	
	Protein σ1.	73
Figure 8	Comparison of Thermostability between Prebound,	
	Cell-bound, and Released Protein dll.	75
Figure 9	Thermal Stability of the C-terminal Trimer of dll.	78
Figure 10	Thermostability of Protein dll in the Presence and	
	Absence of Sialic Acid.	80
Figure 11	Model of Reovirus Interaction with the Cell Surface.	84
Figure 12 Figure 13	Low pH Elution Fractions from a Reovirus Column. Peak Fractions from the Reovirus Column Washes	91
	and Elution.	93
Figure 14	Sialic Acid-Enhanced Recovery of p68 from a Reovirus	06
Figure 15	Sialic Acid-Enhanced Recognition of p68 by Reovirus.	90 99

		<u>Page</u>
Figure 16	Immunoprecipitation of p68 by an Anti-Annexin VI	
	Antibody.	102
Figure 17	Aggregation of p68 and Annexin VI by Calcium.	105
Figure 18	Map of the Human Annexin VI Clone in PGEM-4Z.	108
Figure 19:	Sialic Acid-Enhanced Recognition of Annexin VI	
	by Reovirus.	110
Figure 20:	In Vitro Cotranslation of Annexin VI and $\sigma$ 1.	113
Figure 21:	Lack of Interaction Between Annexin VI and $\sigma$ 1.	115
Figure 22:	Comparison of Amino Acid Compositions of Murine	
	Annexin VI and p68.	120
Figure 23:	Reovirus becomes Cross-linking to the Cell Cytoskeleton.	123
Figure 24	Model of Reovirus Interaction with its Two Cell	
	Surface Receptors.	127

#### List of Abbreviations

AVI	Annexin VI
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BME	β-mercaptoethanol
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cDNA	Cloned (Recombinant) DNA
СТ	Chymotrypsin
ddH <sub>2</sub> O	double-distilled water
DMEM	Dulbecco's minimal essential medium
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
dsRNA	doube-stranded RNA
DMEM	Dulbecco's Minimal Essential Media
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EBV	Epstein-Barr Virus
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
EGTA	Ethyleneglycol -bis-(β-Aminoethyl ether) N,N,N',N'-
	tetraacetic acid
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
G5	Antibody specific for the C-terminus of Reovirus Protein $\sigma$ 1
НА	Hemagglutinin
HBsAg	Hepatitis B Virus Small Antigen
HBV	Hepatits B Virus
HEPES	N-2-(Hydroxymethyl)piperazine-N-2-ethanesulphonic acid
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
IM	Intramuscular

JMEM	Joklick's minimal essential medium
kDa	Kilodaltons
mA	Milliampere
MC2	Annexin VI-specific antibody
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
mRNA	Messenger RNA
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline, pH 7.4
PC	phosphatidylcholine
PE	phosphatidylethanolamine
PFU	Plaque-forming units
РКС	Protein Kinase C
PMSF	phenylmethlysulfonylfloride
PPO	2,5 diphenyloxazole
RIP	Radioimmunoprecipitation
R3	Reovirus serotype 3
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
SC	Subcutaneous
SDS .	Sodium Dodecylsulphate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecylsulphate Polyacrylamide
	Gel Electrophoresis
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethyldiamine
TRIS	Tris(Hydroxymethyl)Aminomethane Hydrochloride
Trp	Trypsin
VAP	Viral attachment protein
VP	Virus protein

\*

.

ţ

.

# MAN'S MIND STRETCHED TO A NEW IDEA NEVER GOES BACK TO ITS ORIGINAL DIMENSIONS

.

-Oliver Wendell Homes

Introduction

.

•

`

1

#### **Overview**

To productively infect their host cells, viruses must succeed in three major goals: they must transfer their genome and accessory proteins across the plasma membrane into the host cell cytosol, they must target these components to the nucleus of the host cell, and they must be able to release their genome and accessory proteins from their packaged, condensed transport configuration. For enveloped viruses, these processes are rather well understood to use refined methods of membrane fusion and uncoating (Helenius, 1982). Some of these viruses penetrate the host cell directly through the membrane, while others enter from endosomes (Helenius et al., 1980). For non-enveloped viruses, the early events in the replication cycle are much less clear; while recent progress has been made in identifying cell surface receptors and characterizing virusreceptor interactions, the mechanisms for penetration, intracellular targeting, and uncoating remain largely unknown. Understanding of virus-receptor interaction and the disassembly process of virions at the molecular level is rapidly gaining vast amounts of interest. The study of these virus-cell interactions is crucial to the development of cures for viral disease and methods for directing virus tissue tropism in gene and cancer therapy. Recent advances have been made in rational drug design, following an understanding of the molecular details of virus-receptor interactions. This recent success has been an inspiration of many investigators to pursue an understanding of viral receptors in recent years (Crowell and Lonberg-Holm, 1986).

In the introduction I will discuss recent advances that have been made in the understanding of virus-cell receptor interactions. I will further discuss the effect of virus-receptor interaction on the virus, in terms of cell-induced virus conformational changes. This will be followed by a discussion of reovirus structure and life cycle. The structure of the reovirus attachment protein,  $\sigma$ 1 will be discussed, as well as the current state of knowledge of the early stages of reovirus infection. Additionally, I will introduce a relatively new class of proteins, the annexins, that are appearing to play an important role in virus-receptor interactions.

#### 1 Virus-Cell Receptor Interactions

The tissue tropism and host range of most viruses is determined by the presence of specific receptors on the surfaces of susceptible cells. It is probable that viruses have evolved to recognize these specific constituents of the surfaces of host cells that, in fact, serve some other cellular function. Although it is generally held that poliovirus could only infect cells of primate origin, production of poliovirus could be achieved in the cells of other species when poliovirus ribonucleic acid (RNA) was transfected directly into these cells, bypassing the receptor recognition process (Holland et al., 1959). Additionally, an "infection" ensued when viruses were injected directly into virus-resistant cells (Wilson et al., 1977). This observation indicated that the block to virus infection of the cell happened at the attachment stage, and not at the uncoating or replication stage. Since then, it has been very well established that virus host range is limited by a lack of appropriate cellular receptors. Indeed, viruses were shown to bind only to cells bearing appropriate virus receptors and not to cells that lack virus receptors (Holland, 1961, 1964; Kunin, 1962). Further investigations have revealed that viruses possess cell attachment proteins that

3

bind specifically to cell receptors. The following sections will detail some of these observations.

#### 2 Virus Attachment Proteins

Viruses recognize cells through use of a single virus attachment protein (VAP) or a combination of proteins. These proteins are often located towards the outermost regions of the virus, where the greatest probability exists of these proteins to be the first virus proteins to interact with the cell surface. Because of their relatively high degree of exposure on virus surfaces, VAPs are often the preferred antigens for the production of neutralizing antibodies and tend to be major targets for the host's immune system.

#### 2.1 Influenza Virus

The attachment proteins of many enveloped viruses have been identified and characterized. The VAPs often appear to be glycoproteins that function in cell attachment and susbsequent membrane fusion. Of particular interest is the attachment protein of the influenza virus. Cell attachment and membrane fusion of this virus is enabled by the trimeric, virus-envelope glycoprotein, hemagglutinin (HA). This protein specifically recognizes sialic acid, which is a normal component of cell membrane proteins and lipids (Carr and Kim, 1993). Each HA monomer is synthesized as a protein precursor, referred to as HA0. This polypeptide is proteolyzed to form a pair of disulfide-bonded peptides, denoted as HA1 and HA2 (Lazarowitz et al., 1971; Skehel, and Waterfield, 1975). Although native HA binds sialic acid, it is dormant in the virus for fusogenic activity (Carr and Kim, 1993). The interaction of HA with sialic acid has been well described (Sauter et al., 1992) and this interaction is separate from the membrane fusion activity of HA. The central region of the HA2 polypeptide folds into a helical hairpin structure; a short  $\alpha$ -helix is connected to a long  $\alpha$ -helix by an extended loop region. This long  $\alpha$ -helix interacts with the corresponding long  $\alpha$ -helices from two other HA2 polypeptides to form an interwound rope of three  $\alpha$ -helices, called a three-stranded  $\alpha$ -helical coiled coil (Carr and Kim, 1993). The three shorter  $\alpha$ -helices are displayed on the outside of the coiled coil. The sialic acid-binding domains of the HA1 subunits assemble on top of the fibrous stem, which is formed primarily by the three-stranded HA2 coiled coil. HA2 is the transmembrane subunit, which spans the envelope membrane once. The amino terminus of HA2 contains a hydrophobic sequence of approximately 25 amino acids, is known to be necessary for membrane fusion (Daniels et al., 1985).

#### 2.2 Poliovirus

Of the non-enveloped viruses, relatively few have been successfully investigated as to the relative natures of their attachment proteins. However, xray crystallography has revealed interesting details of the attachment proteins for poliovirus (Hogel et al., 1985) and rhinovirus (Rossman et al., 1985) which are members of the picornavirus family. These viruses are among the smallest RNA-containing animal viruses with an external diameter of approximately 300 A. Their protein shells possess icosahedral symmetry and are made up of 4 different proteins. The three larger structural virus proteins (VP1, VP2, and VP3) form the exterior of the viral capsid, while VP4 is at the interface between the

5

capsid and the RNA (Smith et al., 1986). A 25 A deep "canyon" is present on the viral surface. Each canyon encircles one of the 12 vertices of the virus and has been identified as the site of receptor binding (Rossman et al. 1985). VP1 is the major structural contributor to the walls and floor of the canyon, and possesses the relatively conserved sequences of the known picornaviruses (Rossman et al. 1985).

#### 2.3 Adenovirus

Adenoviruses are exceptionally well characterized in terms of structure and replication. These viruses are important as pathogens and transforming viruses (Grunhaus and Horwitz, 1992). Recently, they have received special interest as one of the most effective viral vehicles for gene therapy (Cotten et al., 1993; Jaffe et al., 1992; Ragot, et., al., 1993). The adenoviruses consist of an icosahedral particle with a double-stranded genomic DNA and 11-15 structural proteins (Horwitz, 1990). The capsid consists of 12 vertices and 20 facets and at least 6 different polypeptides (Horwitz, 1990). Surrounding each vertex is a penton base, which binds a protruding trimeric fibre protein. The adenoviruses are unique in their use of a two-step attachment process to host cells. The first interaction occurs via the fibre protein, which interacts with high affinity with cell surface receptors. Following this interaction, the penton base recognizes a specific cell surface structure, which leads to the internalization and dismantling of the virus (Greber et al., 1993).

6

#### 3 Virus Conformational Changes

Viruses must remain stable under many adverse conditions that permeate the extracellular environment, yet must be capable of releasing their genomes under favorable intracellular conditions. It is unsurprising, therefore, that the release of these viral genomes to the cell cytosol happens following the initiation of a programmed disassembly cascade, and that this initiation would be reflected in conformational changes in the virus capsid soon after attachment to host cells.

#### 3.1 Influenza Virus

Of the enveloped viruses, the changes that occur in the influenza virus attachment protein, hemagglutinin (HA), following internalization of the virus to the acidic environment of the endosome are particularly well characterized. Influenza virus infection begins with the binding of the virus to sialic acid on the cell surface via the homotrimeric virus attachment protein, HA. Following this interaction, the virus is internalized by receptor-mediated endocytosis into an endosome (Wiley, and Skehel, 1987). Recent findings lead to a model of the mechanism of the conformational change, where the coiled-coil state of the native HA molecule extends, relocating the amino-terminal hydrophobic fusion peptide 100 A closer to the target membrane (Carr and Kim, 1993). A kinetically controlled mechanism for the HA conformational change has been postulated, in which the native state is "metastable", and that although it is stably folded, it contains the potential to fold into an even more thermodynamically stable state (Carr and Kim, 1993). The acidic environment of the endosome additionally

causes structural changes in the native influenza virions, which are characterized by increased or decreased binding of monoclonal antibodies against four major antigenic regions (epitopes) of HA (Webster et al., 1983; Yewdell et al., 1983). These observations are suggestive of an endosomeinduced disassembly cascade for the influenza virus (Bachi et al., 1985).

#### 3.2 Picornavirus

Aside from the picornaviruses and most recently, the adenoviruses, virtually nothing is known about the programmed disassembly of the naked animal viruses during the early stages of virus infection.

The structure of picornavirus is drastically altered in the early stages of infection of susceptible cells (Crowell and Philipson, 1971; Lonberg-Holm et al., 1975; Lonberg-Holm et al., 1972). The change in structure likely results from attachment to the plasma membrane, since it is similarly observed after incubation of virions with membrane preparations from cells bearing the appropriate receptor (De Sena and Mandell, 1976; Guttman and Baltimore, 1977). Picornavirus particles eluted from the cell surface after attachment are characterized by an altered protease susceptibility and antigenic profile, lower sedimentation rate, and the loss of viral protein 4 (VP4) (Crowell and Philipson, 1971; Fricks and Hogle, 1990; Lonberg-Holm et al., 1975; Lonberg-Holm, 1972). The native structure of the picornavirus delegates VP4 to the interior of the virion, below each of the vertices and lacking any exposure at the virion surface (Hogel et al., 1985; Rossman et al., 1985). The absence of VP4 from eluted, prebound particles implies a major structural rearrangement and release of VP4 from the interior of the virion. Since VP4 is myristylated at its N-terminus (Chow

et al., 1987), it is conceivable that it may function in anchoring the virion to the cell membrane and retainment on the cell membrane following elution. It was additionally shown that picornaviruses, altered by attachment to cells, expose the lipophillic amino terminus of viral protein 1 (VP1), suggesting its role in an interaction between cell altered virions and cell membranes (Fricks and Hogel, 1990).

#### 3.3 Adenovirus

For cell entry, adenoviruses attach with high affinity to cell surface receptors via the fibre protein (Defer et al., 1990). While the identity of the first adenovirus receptor remains unknown, the vitronectin-binding integrins have recently been identified as the second adenovirus receptors (Wickham et al., 1993). The integrins mediate virus internalization through attachment to the penton base protein, and cell surface-bound viruses are internalized into endosomes via receptor-mediated endocytosis (Wickham et al., 1993). The acidic pH of the endosome apparently triggers the penetration of the internalized virions into the cytosol (Wickham et al., 1993). Recent studies have shown that incoming adenovirus type 2 particles undergo a stepwise disassembly program necessary to allow progress of the virus in the entry pathway and release of the genome into the nucleus (Greber et al., 1993). The fibers are released, the penton base structures dissociated, the proteins connecting the DNA to the inside surface of the capsid are degraded or shed, and the capsid-stabilizing minor proteins eliminated. The uncoating process starts immediately upon endocytic uptake with the loss of fibres and ends with the uptake of dissociated hexon proteins and DNA into the nucleus (Wickham et al., 1993).

#### 4 Virus Receptors

Regardless of their replication strategy, viruses require cell surface attachment sites. Cellular receptors for a variety of viruses have been identified. In fact, cellular receptors for viruses such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), vaccinia virus and rabies virus have been shown to be molecules of considerable functional significance (Table 1). Members of the immunoglobulin super family such as CD4, intercellular adhesion molecule type 1 (ICAM-1), and closely related molecules have been identified as viral receptors (Mendelsohn et al., 1989; White and Littman, 1989).

Of the non-enveloped viruses, only the reovirus and polyoma viruses have been shown to interact with their attachment proteins with sialic acid on the cell surface. The polyomaviruses are also non-enveloped viruses that are icosahedrally symmetrical. The outer shell of the virion contains 360 copies of VP1, arranged in pentamers which serve as virus receptor binding proteins (Rayment et al., 1982). Polyomavirus attaches to the surface of susceptible cells by stereospecific recognition of oligosaccharides terminating in ( $\alpha$ 2,3)linked sialic acid (Fried et al. 1981 and Cahan et al. 1983). Studies of pathogenicity show that the specificity of viral binding to such oligosaccharides is an important determination of the virus' ability to establish a disseminated infection and to induce tumors in the natural host.

10

Virus	Putative Receptor	References	
Vaccinia	EGF Receptor	Blomquist et al., 1984; Eppstein et al., 1985.	
Sendai	Gangliosides	Holmgren et al., 1980.	
Epstein-Barr	CR2 glycoprotein/C3d receptor	Frade et al., 1985.	
Lactic Dehydrogenase	la and Fc receptors	Inada and Mims, 1985.	
Rabies	Acetylcholine receptors	Lentz et al., 1982.	
Rhinovirus	ICAM-1 adhesion molecules	Greve et al., 1989; Staunton et al., 1989.	
HIV (in T cells)	CD4	Dalgleish et al., 1984; Klatzman et al., 1984.	
HIV (in brain)	Galactosyl Ceramide	Bhat et al., 1991.	
HBV	IL-6	Neurath et al., 1992.	
Friend spleen forming virus	EPO receptor	Li et al., 1990; Yoshimura et al., 1990.	
Shope fibroma virus	TNF?	Smith et al., 1991.	
Murine type C ecotropic retrovirus	?W1 cDNA clone	Albritton et al., 1989.	
HTLV-1	IL-2 receptor β p75	Kohtz et al., 1989	

,

#### Table 1 Cell Surface Molecules Serving as Virus Receptors

Adapted from Sauve et al., 1993

.

v

#### 5 Annexin Proteins in Virus-Cell Interactions.

Recent literature has reported a new class of proteins, termed "annexins", that appear to serve as virus cell-receptor proteins in addition to their normal cell functions. Although there is little evidence to define precisely the normal cell functions of these proteins, research in this field is progressing at an impressive rate. The current state of knowledge about the structure and function of these proteins will be discussed, particularly with regard to their function in virus binding and internalization.

#### 6 Annexin Proteins as Virus Receptors.

Recently, it was shown that human cytomegalovirus is able to bind to human umbelical vein endothelial cells in a specific, saturable, and calciumdependent manner (Wright et al., 1994). Affinity adsorption of detergentprepared lysates of surface-radiolabeled endothelial cells to virions resulted in the identification of a cell-derived protein of 36 kDa (Wright et al., 1994). Protein sequencing of peptides obtained by cyanogen bromide cleavage demonstrated that this protein was identical to human annexin II (Wright et al., 1994). Purified annexin II was subsequently shown to bind directly to virions, providing strong evidence that annexin II is the cell surface receptor for human cytomegalovirus (Wright et al., 1994).

Hertogs et al. (1993) recently demonstrated that a 34 kDa human liver plasma membrane protein specifically bound to the smallest of the three proteins found in the membrane of hepatitis B virus, called hepatitis B virus small antigen (HBsAg). Partial amino acid sequence analysis has determined that this protein is annexin V (Hertogs et al., 1993). Furthermore, native human liver annexin V was shown to inhibit binding of HBsAg to intact human hepatocytes and shows specificity for binding to HBsAg (Hertogs et al., 1993). This binding was shown to be inhibited by human liver plasma membrane proteins, recombinant annexin V, or annexin V antibodies (Hertogs et al., 1993). Despite a 90% sequence homology, rat liver annexin V did not bind to HBsAg, and did not significantly inhibit binding of HBsAg to intact hepatocytes (Hertogs et al., 1993). This observation suggests that species specificity may be directed by certain, discrete regions of the annexin V protein. Interestingly, cross-linking of HBsAg with radiolabeled annexin V resulted in a specific additional protein complex on PAGE with an apparent molecular weight of 90 kDa, corresponding to a complex of annexin V and HBsAg with a ratio of 2:1 or 1:2 (Hertogs et al., 1993). Collectively, these findings suggest that annexin V may be a receptor for hepatitis B virus infection.

In normal human B lymphocytes, the receptor for the Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) is the CR2 receptor, which is a membrane glycoprotein normally involved in human B lymphocyte activation (Barel et al., 1981). It was demonstrated that in normal human B lymphocytes, the CR2 receptor is bound by annexin VI. However, if the B lymphocytes are transformed, the annexin VI on the CR2 receptor is replaced with p53, an anti-oncoprotein (Barel et al., 1991). Because the CR2 receptor is involved in signal transduction, it is possible that annexin VI functions also in signal transduction as well as viral infection, and may direct such events as a result of its ability to bind calcium ions (Barel et al., 1991).

13

#### 7 Annexin Structure and Function

The annexin proteins bind to acidic phospholipids in a calcium-dependent manner (Powell and Glenney, 1987). The annexin family is distinguished by the presence in each of its members of the "annexin fold", a 17 amino acid consensus sequence (Geisow et al., 1986). The annexin fold occurs within a conserved 70 amino acid sequence and is repeated four times in all the annexins, with the exception of annexin VI, where it is repeated eight times (Sudhof et al., 1988; Burgoyne and Geisow, 1989).

#### 7.1 Members of the Annexin Family

Currently, there are nine members of the annexin family derived from vertebrate tissue and determined by sequence analysis (Huang et al., 1968; Wallner et al., 1986; Weber et al., 1987; Crompton et al., 1988; Kaplan et al., 1988; Pepinsky et al., 1988; Burns et al., 1989; Hauptman et al., 1989; Towle and Treadwell, 1992). Three annexins have also been identified in invertebrates (Johnston et al., 1990; Schlaepfer et al., 1992), which brings the total of presently identified annexins to twelve. Evidence of the ubiquitous distribution of the annexins results from the finding that those annexins originally found in invertebrates have also been found in lower organisms such as slime mould (Doring et al., 1991; Gerke et al., 1991; Greenwood and Tsang, 1991) and sponge (Robitzki et al., 1990). Throughout the development of the annexins as a family of proteins, many different laboratories have chosen many different names for these proteins. A list of the most common recent nomenclature has therefore been provided in Table 2.

Table 2 Nomenciature of the Annexins	Table 2	Nomenclature	of the	Annexins
--------------------------------------	---------	--------------	--------	----------

Annexin	Other Name	References
I	Lipocortin I	Huang et al., 1987; Tamaki et al., 1987; Sakata et al., 1988; Sato et al., 1988
	p35	De et al., 1986.
	Calpactin II	Glenney et al., 1987
	Chromobindin 6	Creutz et al., 1987
11	Lipocortin II Calpactin I p36 Chromobindin 8 PAP-IV	Huang et al., 1986 Saris et al., 1986; Kristensen et al., 1986 Huang et al., 1986 Creutz et al., 1987 Tait et al., 1988
111	Lipocortin III	Pepinski et al., 1988
	PAP-III	Tait et al., 1988
	35 α Calcimedin	Kaetzel et al., 1989
IV	Endonexin Protein II Lipocortin IV PAP-II PP4-X 35 ß Calcimedin	Geisow et al., 1986 Weber et al., 1987 Pepinski et al., 1988 Tait et al., 1988 Grundman et al., 1988 Kaetzel et al., 1989
V	PAP-I	Funakoshi et al., 1987
	Lipocortin V	Pepinski et al., 1988
	Endonexin II	Kaplan et al., 1988
	PP4	Grundmann et al., 1988
	35 γ Calcimedin	Kaetzel et al., 1989
VI	p68 67K calelectrin Lipocortin VI Chromobindin 20 67K Calcimedin Synhibin	Crompton et al., 1988; Moss et al., 1988 Sudhof et al., 1988 Pepinsky et al., 1988 Creutz et al., 1987 Smith and Dedman, 1986 Creutz et al., 1987
VII	Synexin	Burns et al., 1989
VIII		Hauptman et al., 1989
IX		Johnston et al., 1990
Х		Johnston et al., 1990
XI		Towle and Treadwell, 1992
XII	[	Schlaepfer et al., 1992

Adapted from Smith and Dedman (1990)

#### 7.2 Common Domains in the Annexins

Sequence analysis and limited proteolysis studies have revealed that all of the annexins are comprised of two major domains (Geisow, 1986; Kristensen et al., 1986; Huang et al., 1986; Saris et al., 1986' Glenney and Tack, 1985; Wever and Johnsson, 1986). These domains are illustrated in Figure 1. The Nterminal domain is particularly sensitive to limited proteolytic digestion, and when this short N-terminus or tail is removed, the core protein remains, which consists of the C-terminus. In terms of homology between the N- and C-terminal regions within the annexin family, there is little homology within tail peptides, but a great deal of homology between the C-terminal regions of these proteins. Although annexins I and II show an overall homology of 25%, their N-termini display a 35% homology while their C-termini display a homology of 50% (Kristensen et al., 1986). The significance of the C-terminal homology is important from a functional perspective, in that this core protein displays both of the characteristic properties of this family of proteins: their ability to bind to calcium and their ability to specifically bind to phospholipids (Schlaepfer and Haigler, 1987; Glenney, 1986). The 17 amino acid annexin fold has been postulated to have a loop-helix secondary structure which is involved in calcium binding (Geisow et al., 1986), although an additional distinct, conserved calcium binding domain has been recently reported to be present in annexins I and V (Jost et al. 1994).



# Figure 1 Schematic Showing the Common C- and N-terminal domains of Several Annexins.

The relatively invariable C-terminus contains the 4 annexin repeats (8 in annexin VI). The N-terminal is highly variable from one annexin to another. Y and S represent tyrosine and serine residues, respectively. (Adapted from Creutz, 1992)
#### 7.3 Annexin V Structure

For annexin V, high resolution studies (Huber et al., 1990; Huber et al., 1990; Huber et al., 1990; Huber et al., 1992) have provided insights into two possible conformations of this protein which, because of the sequence similarities between the four seventy amino acid repeats of the annexins, may provide information on the core structures of the other annexins.

In their earlier study of annexin V, Huber et al. (1990) concluded that the polypeptide chain of this molecule is folded into four domains which coincide with the 70 amino acid repeats of the molecule (see Figure 2). The N-terminal tail, which consists of residues 5-16, runs across the surface of domain I across to domain IV where it binds and helps to anchor domain I to domain IV. Domain I is comprised of residues 17-88; domain II, residues 89-159; the domain II to domain III connector is residues 160-167; domain III, residues 168-246; domain IV residues 247-317. The short links between domains I and II and also III and IV are described by Huber et al. (1990) as "sharp kinks between the C- and Nterminal  $\alpha$ -helices of contiguous domains" and in a helical cylinder plot of annexin V, they propose that a potential ion channel is formed by four of the constituent helices which are coated with charged residues, although they consider that slight side chain conformational changes would be necessary for ease of ion movement. Subsequent studies by Huber et al. (1990) discuss the possible resistance of this channel to ion flow in terms of voltage-dependent gating. It has already been shown that annexin V displays a voltagedependence for its open state to occur (Rojas et al., 1990). It is therefore speculated that because annexin V is electrically dipolar (modules II and III have



Figure 2 Model of Annexin V Domain Arrangement Predicted from X-ray Crystallographic Data.

Domains I and IV and II and III are considered to interact tightly and form modules (shown with broken lines). These modules interact loosly with each other (bold lines). The areas around **N** are nonpolar, while the inter-module area around **P** is polar and could confer ion-channel activity to the molecule.

## (adapted from Huber, et. al., 1990)

an internal positive charge and modules I and IV have an internal negative charge) an electric field might act to alter their orientation with respect to each other, and thus change the diameter of the core of the molecule. The change would result in less resistance to ion flux through the center of annexin V.

#### 8 Annexin VI

Previously, it was noted that structural information gained from the study of annexin V molecular organization may have relevance to the structural organization of other annexins, especially considering that the conservation of amino acid sequence is generally higher than 40% between members of this family. In the case of annexin VI, this protein incorporates eight repeats of the annexin consensus sequence (Moss et al., 1988) which have been shown by sequence alignment to be a duplication of the four annexin consensus domains common to the rest of the family (Crompton et al., 1988). When these twodimensional aspects of the similarities between the structures of annexin V and annexin VI were considered in conjunction with the observations of Newman et al. (1989), who determined the dimensions of annexin VI through electron microscopy to be 35 Å X 100 Å, Huber et al., speculated that annexin VI may fold to form a molecule of similar organization to annexin V, but with two or more added domains. The model for one possible planar organization of annexin VI derived by Driesen et al. (1992) is shown in Figure 3.

Annexin VI is unique within the annexin family of proteins, in the sense that all other members of the family contain four conserved annexin repeats and have molecular weights ranging between 32-50 kDa, whereas annexin VI



## Figure 3 Diagram of a Possible Planar Arrangment of the 8 Domains of Annexin VI. 1-8 represent the eight domains of the C-terminus of annexin VI.

1-8 represent the eight domains of the C-terminus of annexin VI. The putative a-helix in the peptide linking domains 4 and 5 is shown in an arbitrary position. The N-terminus is labelled N. (adapted from Driesen, et. al., 1992)

has a molecular weight of 68 000 kDa and contains eight repeats (Sudhof et al., 1988; Crompton et al., 1988). This protein is often observed on SDS-PAGE as a 68 kDa doublet that arises as a consequence of alternate splicing (Moss and Crumpton, 1990).

#### 8.1 Tissue and Intracellular Distribution of Annexin VI

Most current evidence suggests that annexin VI is present only as an intracellular protein. An early anti-annexin VI antibody study identified annexin VI in lymphocytes and a number of cell lines, finding by subfractionation that 90% of it was bound to the plasma membrane and other intracellular membranes, whereas 10% was associated with the cytosol (Crumpton et al., 1984). Recently, however, the heterogenous expression of certain annexins (I-VI) were detected on the external cell surfaces of certain non-metastatic and metastatic murine, rat and human cell lines (Yeatman et al., 1993). Annexin VI was found to exhibit a relatively strong degree of cell surface expression on the cell lines investigated (Yeatman et al., 1993). In a recent comprehensive screening of non-pathological human tissue, it was noted that annexin was expressed in hormone-secreting cells such as adrenal cortex, testicular Leydig cells, and pancreatic islet cells and some secretory epithelia such as salivary gland ductal epithelia, sweat glands and their ducts, and epithelia of nonlactating breast (Clark et al., 1991). Recently, a study of the localization of annexin VI in ventricular, skeletal and smooth muscle cells revealed that annexin VI is a sarcolemma-associated calcium binding protein that is expressed in both striated myocytes and intestinal smooth muscle cells (lida et al., 1992).

## 8.2 Annexin VI in Calcium Binding

Annexins do not contain EF-hand structures found in the troponin-C/calmodulin/S-100 superfamily or demonstrate sequence similarity with other calcium-regulated proteins, such as protein kinase C and synaptophysin (Sudhof et al., 1988).

Although annexin VI possesses more of the previously mentioned 17residue calcium binding domains than any other annexin, this protein has been shown to bind calcium with a stoichiometry of approximately 1:1 and a  $K_D$  of 1.2  $\mu$ M, indicating the presence of one calcium binding site per annexin VI molecule (Owens and Crumpton, 1984). Hazarika et al. (1991) first showed that annexin VI is associated with calcium-sequestering organelles, and suggested that annexin VI may play a regulatory role in the calcium-release/uptake cycle in the sarcoplasmic reticulum of muscle cells as well as in non-muscle organelles, a key process in stimulus-response systems. Annexin VI has further been reported by Diaz-Munoz et al. (1990) to dramatically alter the gating properties of the ryanodine-sensitive calcium-release channel from sarcoplasmic reticulum.

It has been demonstrated that annexin VI as well as annexins IV and VII undergo a calcium-dependent self-association on membrane surfaces (Zaks and Creutz, 1991). The self-association event was observed to occur through a positively cooperative manner and more dramatic in membranes containing phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylcholine rather than in membranes containing phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylethanolamine (Zaks and Creutz, 1991). Annexin VI has been shown to bind to lipid membranes as a trimer to form a hexagonal lattice, resulting in observable "ring-like structures" of about 45 A in diameter (Newman et al. 1989).

## 8.3 Annexin VI Binding of Lipid Membranes

Biochemically, annexins V and VI as well as protein kinase C exhibit a unique cooperative membrane binding that produces a highly sequential interaction of proteins on the same membrane particle (Bazzi and Nelsestuen, 1991). The association of annexins V and VI with membranes is very responsive to the nature of the membrane so that these annexins constitute very sensitive biological probes of membrane structure (Bazzi and Nelsestuen, 1992).

Biological membranes display asymmetrical organization of phospholipids (Devaux, 1991). Most acidic phospholipids are found in intracellular membranes where they are embedded in a matrix composed largely of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE). On the exterior leaflet of the plasma membrane, phosphatidylcholine (PC) is the major phospholipid. For many purposes, PE and PC may appear similar since they are both neutral, zwitterionic phospholipids that may function as a dispersion medium for more bioactive molecules. The association of annexin VI with membranes containing PC has been observed to induce extensive clustering of acidic phospholipid components (Bazzi and Nelsestuen, 1991a). Consequently, protein binding appeared to involve lateral motion of phospholipids in the membrane. It was suggested that association of annexin VI with membranes involves multiple "calcium bridges" between protein and phospholipids (Bazzi and Nelsestuen, 1991). Like annexin VI, protein kinase C (PKC) binds very little calcium by itself. However, PKC in its complex with membrane lipids was observed to bind a large number (eight to nine) of calcium ions. It was further observed that annexin VI binds a similar number of calcium ions (eight to nine) when bound to phospholipids in a calcium-dependent manner (Bazzi and Nelsestuen, 1991).

#### 8.4 Phosphorylation of Annexin VI

Many proteins are functionally regulated by post-translational modifications and the identification of these modifications frequently provides insights into protein function. Annexins I and II are both substrates for tyrosine kinases and it has been shown in vitro that tyrosine phosphorylation of these two annexins has opposing effects on their calcium requirements for phospholipid binding (Moss et al., 1992). Annexin VI was reported to be phosphorylated at low levels on serine and threonine in cells in a growth-dependent manner. Most of the phosphate (approximately 80% of the incorporated phosphate), however, was found to be incorporated into an unidentified complex that has high mobility on thin-layer electrophoresis. It was found to be improbable that this phosphate group is incorporated as a phosphoamino acid, and its identity remains unknown (Moss et al., 1992). Although annexin VI has a tyrosine residue (position 10) and a serine residue (position 13) (Crompton et al., 1988), phosphorylation of these residues has yet to be observed. It is interesting to note, however, that the pattern of phosphorylation observed for annexin VI in cells shares similarities with that described previously for the retinoblastoma gene product, p105RB (Buchkovich et al., 1989). Neither protein is phosphorylated in guiescent cells, whereas both are phosphorylated during the latter stages of the cell cycle and are dephosphorylated as cells exit log-phase growth and enter Go (Moss et al., 1992). Expression, synthesis and turnover of both annexin VI and p105-RB appear to be relatively constant throughout the cell cycle (Moss et al., 1992).

#### 8.5 Function of Annexin VI

The function of annexin VI has not been defined, but there are three principal schools of thought. The first proposes that it has a structural role in the cortical submembrane skeleton of the cell. Thus annexin VI, through its association with non-ionic detergent-insoluble fraction of lymphocyte plasma membrane (Davies et al., 1984), and by analogy with annexins I (Glenney et al., 1987) and II (Gerke and Weber, 1984; Glenney, 1986), may interact with elements of the cytoskeleton, especially actin. The second holds that it has a role in membrane/membrane fusion. Evidence for this is derived from studies with Annexin VI, which induces aggregation of secretory vesicle/granule membranes in a calcium-dependent manner (Geisow and Burgoyne, 1987). Thirdly, it is thought that annexin VI may resemble annexin II and have a similar capacity to inhibit phospholipase A2 (Flower et al., 1984), although there is some uncertainty as to whether this represents true inhibition of the protein.

Lin et al. (1992) reported that annexin VI is required for budding of coated pits from purified plasma membranes. It was postulated that annexin VI works, either directly or indirectly, to alter enzymatically crucial lipids in the cell membrane, leading to detachment of the exocytotic stalk (Lin et al., 1992). It is possible that the coordinate binding and trimerization of annexin VI might constrict the stalk sufficiently to force the opposing membranes together and cause fusion. Alternatively, annexin VI may have an intrinsic mechanical activity that squeezes the membranes like a "purse string" to sever the stalk (Lin et al., 1992). The activity displayed by annexin VI in vitro suggested that it is required for coated vesicle formation within the cell. None of the other annexins were observed to have budding activity, which may indicate that annexin VI is specifically designed for endocytosis/exocytosis reactions (Lin et al., 1992). Smyth et al. (1994), however, recently reported that annexin VI is not an essential component of the endocytic pathway, and that in A431 (human epidermal carcinoma) cells, annexin VI fails to exert any influence on internalization and recycling of the transferrin receptor.

#### 9 Reovirus

The Reoviridae are a family of non-enveloped, icosahedral, doublestranded (ds) ribonucleic acid (RNA) genomes. They have been isolated from plants, insects, fish, birds and snakes (Joklik, 1983; Ahne et al., 1987), and are implicated in a number of human and animal diseases. These include infantile diarrhea (rotavirus), Colorado tick fever, and blue tongue. The best characterized viruses in this family are the human reoviruses (Respiratory Enteric Orphan Viruses), which were first isolated from humans in the 1950's (Robbin's et al., 1951; Stanley et al., 1953; Stanley, 1961). The three distinct serotypes have been extensively studied (Joklik, 1981; Joklik, 1983; Joklik, 1985), and this has resulted in a vast foundation of knowledge resulting in an appealing system to study in the context of virus-receptor interactions.

#### 9.1 Reovirus Molecular Structure

Each human reovirus virion is icosahedral in shape, with a molecular weight of 1.3 X 10<sup>8</sup>, 15% of which is RNA (Rhim et al., 1961; Harvey et al., 1981). The viral protein components are arranged into an outer capsid (approximately 72 nm) and an inner capsid (approximately 56 nm), with the inner

"core" enclosing the ten individual gene segments of dsRNA that make up the viral genome (McCrae and Joklik, 1978; Mustoe et al., 1978). The dsRNA genome is separated into three size classes, L, M, and S (Shatkin et al., 1968; Bellamy and Joklik, 1967). There are three segments in the L class (M.W. about 2.8 X 10<sup>6</sup>), three in the M class (M.W. about 1.4 X 10<sup>6</sup>) and four in the S class (M.W. about 0.7 X 10<sup>6</sup>). Each segment of the dsRNA genome codes for at least one protein and is assigned to a size class based on its relationship to a given dsRNA segment (Mustoe et al., 1978; McCrae and Joklik, 1978). The L class codes for lambda ( $\lambda$ ) proteins, M class for mu ( $\mu$ ) proteins and S class for sigma  $(\sigma)$  proteins. Eight of the proteins coded for are incorporated into mature virions, the other two along with p14 are nonstructural (Zweering et al., 1971). The core structure is composed primarily of  $\lambda 1$ ,  $\lambda 2$ , and  $\sigma 2$ , with minor quantities of  $\lambda 3$ ,  $\mu 1$ and µ2 (Joklik, 1981). The core proteins are responsible for an RNA transcriptase activity (Shatkin and Sipe, 1968), a guanyltransferase activity that "caps" mRNA and has been associated with the  $\lambda 2$  protein (Cleveland et al., 1986: Furuichi and Shatkin, 1976), and two methylase activities.

The nonstructural proteins,  $\sigma$ NS and  $\mu$ NS found in large quantities in infected cells (Joklik, 1981), appear to function in reovirus morphogenesis. The  $\sigma$ NS protein has been observed to bind ssRNA (Gomatos et al., 1980; Gomatos et al., 1981; Richardson and Furuichi, 1985). Recent reports suggest that  $\mu$ NS serves to anchor the structures involved in genome synthesis and assembly to the cell matrix. The outer capsid is composed of  $\sigma$ 1,  $\sigma$ 3 and  $\mu$ 1C (a cleavage product of  $\mu$ 1C) (Lee et al., 1981a). Protein  $\sigma$ 3 has a strong affinity for  $\mu$ 1C (Lee et al., 1981a), binds tightly to dsRNA (Huismans and Joklik, 1982), and is thought to be responsible for inhibition of host protein and RNA synthesis (Fields, 1982). Protein  $\mu$ 1C is in part responsible for virulence and tissue tropism (Hardy et al., 1982). Together, the  $\sigma$ 3 and µ1C proteins make up discrete subunits or capsomeres, which in turn form the outer icosahedral shape of the virion. "Spikes" of the  $\lambda$ 2 pentamers which originate at the twelve vertices of the core icosahedron from a tunnel through the outer capsid, which allows mRNA transcripts to move from the core to the outer cellular environment (Ralph et al., 1980; Lee et al., 1981b), where the tips of the  $\lambda$ 2 pentamers are exposed. Capping these  $\lambda$ 2 pentamers are molecules of the  $\sigma$ 1 protein, the most typespecific of all the reovirus proteins (Lee et al., 1981b; Gaillard and Joklik, 1982; Cashdollar et al., 1985). The  $\sigma$ 1 protein is the reovirus cell attachment protein and exists as a homo-oligomer (Lee et al., 1981).

## 9.2 Structure and Function of the S1 Gene Product σ1

The  $\sigma$ 1 protein has been shown to be a homotrimer (Strong et al., 1991) and have a fibre-like structure with a globular head extending outwards from the  $\lambda$ 2 protrusions (Furlong et al., 1988). It is clear that the most divergent of the reovirus genes is S1, which codes for the  $\sigma$ 1 protein. Nucleotide sequencing has shown a 28% homology between serotypes 1 and 2 with only 5% and 9% homology, respectively with the serotype 3 gene (Cashdollar et al., 1985). The sequences translate with serotypes 1 and 2 having 41% of their amino-acid residues shared with serotype 3 sharing no more than 20% of its amino acids with either serotype 1 or 2, resulting in a hydrophobicity profile distinct from the other two. The conclusions from the sequence analysis are confirmed by the observation that antibodies against the serotype 3 protein  $\sigma$ 1 are absolutely specific, whereas those against serotypes 1 and 2  $\sigma$ 1 proteins are partly crossreactive (Gaillard and Joklik, 1980). Despite large differences in the sequences of the  $\sigma$ 1 protein certain functional attributes are maintained. It has been observed that all three serotypes of reovirus compete for the same receptor on L cells, suggesting a conserved attachment site (Lee et al., 1981b). Additionally, the production of genetic reassortants of reovirus with exchanges S1 genes suggests a structural conservation in the region of  $\sigma$ 1 attachment to  $\lambda$ 2 (Joklik, 1985). The best characterized  $\sigma$ 1 protein is that belonging to reovirus, serotype 3.

The S1 gene of reovirus serotype 3 is 1416 nucleotides in length and the first reading frame has a coding capacity of 455 amino acids, sufficient to account for the 42 kDa of its  $\sigma$ 1 protein (Nagata et, al., 1984). Theoretical analysis of the S1 sequence predicts an amino terminal portion containing an  $\alpha$ helical coiled coil structure and a globular C-terminal region of indeterminant form (Bassel-Duby et al., 1985). The coiled coil amino terminal region is thought to represent the portion of  $\sigma$ 1 that anchors the protein to the  $\lambda$ 2 pentamers, with the globular C-terminal region containing the cell binding domain (Bassel-Duby et al., 1985). Additionally, in a more elaborate analysis where the functional capacities of expressed  $\sigma$ 1 deletion mutants were examined, the cell binding domains were mapped to the C-terminal region of the  $\sigma$ 1 protein (Nagata et al., 1987). It is also clear that within the C-terminal region of the  $\sigma$ 1 protein, the erythrocyte and cell binding domains are unique. This has been demonstrated by epitope mapping studies with monoclonal antibodies (Burstin et al., 1982; Spriggs et al., 1983), as well as the observation that when in-frame deletion mutants of the  $\sigma 1$  protein which divide the protein into four segments ( 5'- I - II -III - IV -3') are produced, segments III and IV contain the host cell binding domain , but segment II must also be present to allow recognition of the erythrocyte receptor (Nagata et al., 1987).

.

In addition to its role in virus-cell interactions, the s1 protein also plays a major role in other host-virus interactions. The  $\sigma$ 1 protein is responsible for evoking a number of host immune responses which include: the elicitation of neutralizing antibodies (Weiner and Fields, 1977), the development of delayed hypersensitivity (Weiner et al., 1980) the generation of cytotoxic (Finberg et al., 1979) and suppressor T cells (Fontana and Weiner, 1980), and in the specific case reovirus serotype 1, the induction of autoimmunity (Onodera et al., 1981; Haspel et al., 1983) and immunosuppression (Garzelli et al., 1985). The  $\sigma$ 1 protein may also mediate binding of virions to microtubules (Babiss et al., 1979), and separates tissue tropism from virulence (Weiner et al., 1977).

## 9.3 Tissue Tropism and Virus-Cell Interaction

As the viral attachment protein and most genetically divergent of the reovirus proteins, the  $\sigma$ 1 protein is responsible for inducing the greatest number of host organism immune responses, by being the most immunodominant of the reovirus outer capsid proteins (Gaulton et al., 1986), and clearly regulates the pattern of viral cell and tissue tropism (Fields and Green , 1982; Sharpe and Fields, 1985). Injection of reovirus, serotype 3 into the brains of newborn mice resulted in the development of an acute, often fatal encephalitis, brought about by the specific infection of neuronal, but not ependymal cells (Margolis et al., 1971). In contrast, serotype 1 was only able to infect ependymal cells, leading to a non-fatal ependymitis (Kilham and Margolis, 1970). The construction of reassortants between reovirus serotypes 1 and 3 resulted in the determination that the S1 gene was responsible for the differential tropism previously observed (Weiner et al., 1977). S1 exchanged reassortants were also used to

demonstrate that antigenic variants of reovirus, selected in the presence of monoclonal anti- $\sigma$ 1 antibodies, demonstrated alterations in neurovirulence, despite a conserved ability to infect L cells and spread normally from the intestine (Spriggs et al., 1983; Spriggs and Fields, 1982; Kaye et al., 1986). However, the loss of neurovirulence of one reassortant was traced to the M2 gene (encoding the major outer capsid proteins,  $\mu$ 1C). This was found to be due to the reduced ability of the mutant to grow in neuronal tissues, and not as a result of altered tissue specificity (Hardy et al., 1982) Therefore, it is clear that other viral components play a role in reovirus tissue tropism and pathogenesis in addition to the S1 gene and the  $\sigma$ 1 protein.

The gross observations of reovirus tissue tropism and pathogenesis in model systems has generated a great deal of interest in the observation of reovirus-cellular interactions at the molecular level. Early studies on reovirus receptors suggested, that as least on erythrocytes, a major determinant in reovirus recognition of target cells was the presence of particular carbohydrates.

#### 9.4 The Reovirus Receptor

Details of the specific interaction between  $\sigma$ 1 and the receptors on host cells are largely unknown, but it is clear that sugar moieties on the receptors are important recognition signals (Armstrong et al., 1984; Gentsch and Pacitti, 1985; Pacitti and Gentsch, 1987), specifically the  $\alpha$ -anomeric form of sialic acid (Paul et al., 1989). Because of this, glycophorin was identified as the reovirus receptor on human erythrocytes; this interaction being presumably due to the relatively high content of the  $\alpha$ -anomeric form of sialic acid on glycophorin (Paul and Lee, 1987). The demonstration that the  $\alpha$ -anomeric form of sialic acid is the

minimal determinant recognized by reovirus is compatible with the finding that the virus binds to multiple sialoglycoproteins on the host cell surface. However, the identities of these proteins remain unknown. A cell-surface receptor for reovirus serotype 3 was previously isolated by using anti-idiotypic anti-receptor antibodies. The receptor was found to be a glycoprotein of 67 kDa and a pl of 5.9 (Co et al., 1985). Other evidence, however, has shown that the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is recognized by reovirus (Tang et al., 1993). Additionally, the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) on host cells has been shown to confer reovirus infection efficiency (Strong et al., 1993).

The identity of the reovirus receptor has yet to be determined. Because all cell types and tissues contain, on their surfaces, the  $\alpha$ -anomeric form of sialic acid - yet not all cell types and tissues are infectable by reovirus, it is probable that there exists another receptor determinant. The nature of this other reovirus receptor will be discussed in the context of this thesis.

## 10 The Research Project

The main goals of this work were to detect and characterize changes in the structure of reovirus as a result of interaction with host cells. These changes were predicted to occur during the earliest stage of reovirus infection (during attachment) and be manifested as conformational changes in the reovirus capsid proteins. We also attempted to characterize the minimal determinant necessary for these confomational changes to occur in reovirus. Further to these investigations, we established the nature of the cell-induced reovirus conformational changes in terms of effects on the virus. Because conformational changes in reovirus likely result from the interaction of reovirus with its cellular

receptor, we attempted to purify this receptor to determine its identity, and to characterize its interaction with reovirus.

Elucidation of the initial virus-cell interactions would allow us to follow the next steps in virus-cell interactions, such as elucidation of second messages within the cell or internalization events. Advancement of knowledge in the reovirus system would also be of value for the sake of comparison to other viral systems, since it appears that despite there being gross dissimilarities among viral systems, certain critical elements in virus-cell interactions appear to be fundamental to diverse virus groups.

**Methods and Materials** 

,

.

#### 1 Cell Culture Procedures

#### **1.1 Cultivation of L Cells**

The L-929 mouse fibroblast cell line was used for the propagation of reovirus,  $\sigma 1$ binding studies and production of receptor-containing membrane fractions. Unless otherwise indicated, mouse fibroblast L-929 cells were used in all experiments. Cells were grown in Joklik's modification (for suspension cultures) of Eagle's minimal essential medium (JMEM, Gibco Laboratories, Burlington, Ontario) supplemented with 5% fetal calf serum (FCS) (Gibco) containing penicillin G (75 units/mL) and streptomycin (50µg/mL). A 20 litre package was dissolved in 20 litres of double-distilled water along with 60 g of sodium bicarbonate, and the medium then sterilized by filtration. The L cells were maintained as monolayers in 5% carbon dioxide at 37 °C, and split when confluent using trypsin-EDTA (Gibco, 0.05% trypsin (1:250), and 5mM EDTA) according to established procedures (Jakob and Paston, 1979; Bird and Forrester, 1981). Suspension cultures were grown in flat-bottomed Florence flasks, incubated in 37°C water baths, with the L cells being maintained in suspension with magnetic stir bars. The cell density was maintained between 0.5 - 1.0 X 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL, with the maximum volume being 4 litres of cells in a 6 litre flask (McCrae, 1985).

#### **1.2** Propagation of Virus

The virus strain used throughout these studies was reovirus serotype 3 (Dearing Strain). Plaque plugs were obtained from a virus titration of L-cells, utilizing the agar overlay method (Bellamy et al., 1967; Barret and Inglis, 1985) and were stored in 1 mL aliquots of JMEM + 5% fetal calf serum (FCS) at -70°C. An inoculum was started by freeze-thawing a plaque plug three times, alternating between a dry ice/ethanol bath. This was used to infect a 75 cm<sup>2</sup> L cell monolayer (McCrae, 1985), which was used to infect a spinner culture of L-292 cells for virus growth and purification.

Four litres of L-929 cells were grown to approximately 1 X  $10^6$  cells/mL in JMEM with 5% fetal calf serum (FCS) (Gibco). Two 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks of 24 hourinfected L cells were subjected to alternate freeze-thawing in a -70°C freezer and a 37°C water bath. The 4 litres of L-929 cells were gently pelleted at 80 X g at 4°C for 10 minutes and immediately resuspended in 200 mL of JMEM containing 5% FCS in a sterile 500 mL flat-bottomed Florence flask, containing a magnetic stir bar. The contents of the freeze-thawed 75 cm<sup>2</sup> (reovirus-infected L-929 cells) flasks were decanted into the Florence flask , and the mixture was allowed to stir gently in a 35°C water bath for approximately 2 hours.

Following incubation, the contents of the 500 mL Florence flask were decanted into a sterile 6 litre flat-bottomed Florence flask, containing a magnetic stir bar. The solution volume was adjusted to 3.5 litres with fresh JMEM/5% FCS and incubated at 32°C for approximately 36 hours. At 36 hours, an additional 500 mL of JMEM/5% FCS were added, bringing the total volume up to 4 litres. Following another 24-48 hour incubation, when approximately 60% cell lysis was

observed (visualized microscopically), virus was harvested according to the following protocol.

## **1.3 Harvesting of Virus from Infected Cells**

Infected L cells (at about 60% cell lysis) were pelleted by centrifugation at 2000 X g for 20 minutes 4<sup>o</sup>C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in 20 mL of homogenization buffer (10mM TRIS, pH 7.5; 250mM NaCl). The resulting L-cell solution was then sonicated continuously on ice at the microtip output limit (80% duty cycle) for 3 minutes.

Following sonication, a 10% (W/V) sodium deoxycholate solution (in virus homogenization buffer) was added to a final concentration of 0.1%, and the solution incubated on ice for 30 minutes. Approximately 2/3 of a volume (approximately 15 mL) of freon (pre-chilled for 30 minutes at -20°C) were then added, followed by sonication of the solution at the microtip output limit (70% duty cycle) until a stable, homogeneous solution of relative viscosity was achieved. The solution was immediately centrifuged in a 50 mL conical centrifuge tube at approximately 500 X g for 5 minutes at 4<sup>o</sup>C. The resulting supernatant was decanted, the pellet discarded, and a 2/3 volume of freon (prechilled for 30 minutes at -20°C) was added to the supernatant. The solution was sonicated immediately at the microtip output limit (65% duty cycle) until a relatively homogeneous, viscous and stable solution was achieved. The resulting solution was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 4°C in a 50 mL conical centrifuge tube, and the resulting supernatant decanted (the pellet was discarded). This supernatant was then loaded onto 1.2 g/mL - 1.4 g/mL CsCl gradients (prepared by dissolving 27g or 54g, respectively, of CsCl into 100 mL

(total volume) of ddH<sub>2</sub>O, containing 2 mL of 1M TRIS, pH 7.4), so that the supernatant volume did not exceed the gradient volume by more than 1/3. The gradients were ultracentrifuged at 26 000 rpm for 2 hours at 4°C in a JS 28.1 rotor (Beckman). The resulting top component (reovirus shells) and lower component (reovirus particles) were separately collected by aspiration and dialyzed against phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (130mM NaCl; 2mM KCl; 1.5mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>; 8.1mM NaHPO<sub>4</sub>), pH 7.4 and stored at 4°C until needed. Concentration (in mg/mL) of virus was determined by multiplying the dilution factor (usually 100) by its optical density at 280nm (ultraviolet) and dividing by 5.42). plaque-forming units (PFU)/mL of virus was determined using the agar overlay method. Virus titres of 10<sup>10</sup>-10<sup>11</sup> (PFUs)/mg virus were routinely obtained.

## **1.4 Plaque Titration of Reovirus**

6 well, 30 mm tissue culture plates were seeded with L cells and allowed to grow to 70% confluence in JMEM/5% FCS. Dilutions of virus were prepared, ranging from  $10^{-5}$  to  $10^{-10}$  in PBS. The growth medium was removed from each plate of L-cells by aspiration, and 100 µL of each dilution of virus were added to duplicate plates. The plates were incubated for 1 hour at  $37^{\circ}$ C with intermittent rocking to ensure that the whole L cell surface was exposed to virus. Agar overlay medium was prepared by adding 3.3 mL of FCS to 30 mL of 2X JMEM, followed by incubation at  $45^{\circ}$ C in a water bath. To this solution, 30 mL of 2% bacto-agar (pre-equilibrated to  $45^{\circ}$ C) was added and the final solution left in a water bath at  $45^{\circ}$ C.

After the one hour incubation period, the plates of L cells (infected with reovirus) were each treated with 7 mL of agar overlay medium and incubated at 37°C overnight in 5% Carbon dioxide (tissue culture incubator). The next day, 0.5 mL of neutral red (0.1 % (W/V)) were added to each plate, followed by rocking to coat the surface of the agar evenly. The plates were then incubated for 6-16 hours in the tissue culture incubator before visualization of plaques was achieved. Plaques were collected with a sterile glass pasteur pipette and resuspended in 1 mL of JMEM/5% FCS and stored at -70°C until required.

Titre of the virus was calculated by determining the average number of plaques on duplicate plates, followed by the division of this average number by the dilution factor of the virus used to infect the respective plates. The resulting number was multiplied by ten, and taken as the number of plaque forming units per mL of virus (PFU/mL). This was repeated for at least 5 different dilutions of virus and the mean of each PFU/mL was taken to be the actual PFU/mL of virus.

#### 1.5 Preparation of a Reovirus Column

1.0 g of CNBr-activated sepharose 4b (Sigma) were allowed to reswell in 1mM HCl in a volume of 200 mL, followed by washing with coupling buffer (0.1M NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, pH 8.3; 500mM NaCl). 5 mL of reovirus, serotype 3 (approximately 4 mg/mL) were dialyzed against coupling buffer and then added to the reswelled sepharose in a 10 mL plastic sterile conical centrifuge tube. The tube was then incubated overnight in the dark, while gently tipping end-over-end at 4<sup>o</sup>C for 16-24 hours.

The sepharose was then transferred to a buffer containing a blocking agent (0.2M glycine, pH 8.0) and incubated in a similar tipping end-over-end

manner at 4°C for 16 to 24 hours. The sepharose was then washed with coupling buffer followed by acetate buffer (0.1M, pH 4.0; 500mM NaCl) followed by coupling buffer, followed by three more washes of coupling buffer. The sepharose was assayed for reovirus content by SDS-PAGE and stored at 4°C in PBS (containing 0.02% sodium azide).

#### 1.6 L Cell Binding Assay

The L cell binding assay was essentially the same as previously described (Lee *et al.*, 1981). Confluent L-929 cell monolayers in 60 mm plates (Falcon) were preincubated with cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 10 mg/ml bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 20 minutes at 4°C. After rinsing once with cold PBS, 200  $\mu$ L of one protein translation reaction (diluted to a 200  $\mu$ L final volume in PBS of <sup>35</sup>S-methionine labelled protein) was added to the plates. The plates were incubated at 4°C with intermittent rocking for 60 minutes, after which the supernatant was removed and the monolayers were washed five times with cold PBS. The cells were lysed with 200  $\mu$ l of lysis buffer (PBS containing 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, and 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)) and the nuclei were pelleted for 2 minutes in a microfuge at 5000 x g. Protein sample buffer was added to the supernatant and the bound protein was analyzed by SDS-PAGE and autoradiography of the <sup>35</sup>S-methionine labelled proteins.

41

- ---- ----

## 1.7 Storage of Cells for Tissue Culture

Cells for tissue culture were maintained in storage by pelleting at least 10 X  $10^{6}$  cells at no more than 200 X g, followed by resuspension in 1-2 mL of storage media (10% tissue culture grade DMSO, 40% Dulbecco's minimal essential medium (DMEM), and 50% FCS). The cells were then transferred to cryogenic vials which were then sealed and wrapped together in insulation (fiberglass and styrofoam), followed by incubation overnight at -70°C. The next day, the frozen cryogenic vials were transferred to liquid nitrogen for long term storage. Cells were resuspended by thawing them with the addition of 1 mL of JMEM/5% FCS at room temperature, with constant resuspension, followed by incubation in a 75 cm<sup>2</sup> tissue culture flask (containing 10 mL of JMEM/5% FCS in the tissue culture incubator ( $37^{\circ}C$ , 5% CO<sub>2</sub>).

#### 1.8 Lysis of Cells

Cells were lysed in cell lysis buffer (20 mM TRIS-Cl, pH 7.6; 150 mM NaCl; 1 mM EGTA (Ethyleneglycol -bis-( $\beta$ -Aminoethyl ether) N,N,N',N'- tetraacetic acid); 1% Triton X-100; 1mM PMSF) on ice for 5 minutes. Cells were collected by scraping with a rubber policeman and pipette aspiration, followed by microcentrifugation at low speed to pellet the nuclei. Supernatants were transferred to another tube and either used immediately for experimentation or electrophoresis, or stored at -70°C until required.

## 1.9 Isolation of Cell Membranes

Cells were grown (L-cells from a 4 L spinner culture or A431 cells in lasagna dishes) and pelleted by centrifugation at 2000 X g at 4°C for 15 minutes. The cell pellets were resuspended in resuspension buffer (20mM TRIS, pH 7.4; 5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 2mM PMSF) and homogenized by hand, using a glass homogenizer and no more than 30-40 strokes. The nuclei were removed by centrifugation at 500 X g for 3 minutes, followed by decanting of the supernatant and discarding of the pellet. The resultant supernatant was centrifuged at 33 000 rpm in a Beckman ultracentrifuge, using an SW55 rotor (Beckman). The pellet was resuspended in 2.5 mL of PBS and layered onto a 2.5 mL 35% (W/V) sucrose (made up in PBS) cushion in a 5 mL centrifuge tube and centrifuged at 16 000 rpm for one hour at 4°C. The resultant interphase band was collected by aspiration and diluted to 5 or 10 mL in PBS. This solution was then centrifuged (using 5 mL tubes in an SW55 rotor (Beckman)) at 33 000 rpm for 30 minutes at 4°C. The resulting pellet was resuspended in PBS or membrane buffer (20mM HEPES, pH 7.4; 150mM NaCl; 2mM PMSF) and stored at -70°C until required.

## 1.10 Binding of Reovirus or $\sigma$ 1 Protein to L cells and Plasma Membrane

Confluent L cell monolayers in 96 well tissue culture plates (Falcon) were preincubated with cold PBS containing 5 mg/mL of BSA for 15 minutes at 4°C. The PBS was removed by aspiration and [ $^{35}$ S]methionine labeled reovirus or aliquots of translation mixtures of full-length  $\sigma$ 1 or dll were added to the wells and incubated at 4°C for 60 minutes, after which the supernatants were

removed and the monolayers washed 4 times with cold PBS, followed by the addition of  $100\mu$ L of 1 X protein sample buffer (PSB) and boiling for 5 minutes prior to SDS-PAGE.

#### 1.11 Fixing of Cells to Plates with Glutaraldehyde

Confluent monolayers of cells were washed twice with an excess of room temperature (RT) PBS, and then covered with no more than 2mm of PBS containing 0.25% glutaraldehyde (V/V). The plates were covered and incubated at room temperature for twenty minutes. The fixed monolayers were washed with excesses of 4<sup>o</sup>C PBS four times and used immediately or covered with PBS containing 0.02% sodium azide (W/V) and stored covered at 4<sup>o</sup>C until required.

# 1.12 Preparation of [<sup>35</sup>S]methionine Labeled Reovirus

Reovirus was prepared exactly as described in section 1.3, with the addition that approximately  $33\mu$ Ci/mL of [ $^{35}$ S]methionine was included in the JMEM+5% FCS after dilution of the reovirus-adsorbed (infected) cells to 3.5 L. If less [ $^{35}$ S]methionine-reovirus was required, the whole procedure was scaled down to a 2 L preparation.

#### 2 Routine Procedures

## 2.1 *In Vitro* Transcription (of and dll in Conformational Change Studies)

For the conformational change studies, transcription of DNA templates to RNA was performed according to the following protocol.

50µL transcription reactions were made up in 1 X reaction buffer (40mM TRIS-HCI (pH 7.5); 6mM MgClo; 2mM spermidine; 10mM NaCl; [Promega]), containing 1mM ATP, CTP and UTP; 0.1mM GTP; 0.5mM cap analog, 6mM dithiothreitol; 10 mg/mL bovine serum albumin; 1.0 U/µL RNA guard (Promega); 5 µg of linearized template DNA; and 15U of SP6 RNA polymerase per µg of DNA. The reactions were incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C, at which time GTP was added to a final concentration of 1.0 mM and incubated for an additional 45 minutes. The DNA templates were removed by digestion with the addition of 15µg of RNase-free DNase I (Betheseda Research Laboratories) and 1.0 U/µL of RNAguard (Promega), followed by a 15 minute incubation at 37°C. The reactions were then diluted with 10mM TRIS (pH7.5) and 1mM EDTA, and extracted with phenol, phenol-chloroform, and then chloroform. The RNA was precipitated in 95% ethanol, containing 2.5 M ammonium acetate at -70°C for at least 4 hours. The pellets were washed, resuspended in sterile water, and stored at -70°C in small aliquots until required. The resulting mRNA was >95% full length (determined by agarose gel analysis), and yields were approximately 10-15  $\mu$ g per reaction.

#### **2.2** In Vitro Transcription (Recombinant Annexin VI and $\sigma$ 1)

Transcription of DNA templates to RNA was accomplished through use of a commercially available kit from Ambion (Ambion SP6 transcription kit). Use of this kit resulted in high yields of very high quality RNA.

Briefly, to a 1.5 mL microfuge tube, the following reagents were added in order:  $6\mu$ L of RNase-free ddH<sub>2</sub>O,  $2\mu$ L of 10X transcription buffer (Ambion),  $2\mu$ L of ATP solution, (Ambion),  $2\mu$ L of CTP solution (Ambion),  $2\mu$ L of GTP solution (Ambion),  $2\mu$ L of UTP solution (Ambion),  $2\mu$ L of template DNA (0.5 mg/mL), and  $2\mu$ L of enzyme mix (Ambion).

The reaction mixture was incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C for six hours. Following incubation, 1µL of RNase-free DNase I (2U/µL) (Ambion) were added, followed by a brief pulse-microcentrifugation, followed by incubation at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 15 minutes. The reaction was stopped by the addition of  $30\mu$ L of RNase-free ddH<sub>2</sub>O and  $25\mu$ L of Lithium Chloride Precipitation Solution (Ambion) and mixed thoroughly. The reaction was chilled for 60 minutes at -20°C and then centrifuged at maximum speed in a microcentrifuge to pellet the RNA. The supernatant was gently removed by aspiration and the pellet washed once with 70% ethanol and then re-centrifuged. The final RNA pellet was resuspended in ddH<sub>2</sub>O to approximately 100ng/µL and assayed for quality by agarose gel electrophoresis and translation in rabbit reticulocyte lysate (see Methods and Materials section 2.3).

#### 2.3 In Vitro Translation

Capped or uncapped mRNAs were translated *in vitro* in rabbit reticulocyte lysates (RRLs) according to the manufacturer's specifications (Promega). The 25 $\mu$ L translation reactions contained 50-100  $\mu$ g of RNA (2  $\mu$ L of approximately 50  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ L mRNA), 2 $\mu$ L (20 $\mu$ Ci) of [<sup>35</sup>S]methionine (1100 Ci/mMol (New England Nuclear)), 2  $\mu$ L of amino acids minus methionine (1mM each) (Promega), 18  $\mu$ L of RRL, and 1  $\mu$ L of ddH<sub>2</sub>O.

The reaction mixtures were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C for one hour and then diluted to  $200\mu$ L with  $4^{\circ}$ C PBS, pH 7.4 and used immediately for experimentation or stored until needed at -70°C.

#### 2.4 Radioimmunoprecipitation

Samples to be immunoprecipitated were diluted to appropriate concentrations according to the relative experiments and mixed with an equal volume of antibody (antibody concentrations determined by titration), diluted in PBS to appropriate working concentrations of antibody and incubated at room temperature for 60 minutes. Fixed <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> (10% suspension (W/V) in NET buffer (50 mM TRIS-Cl, pH 7.5; 150 mM NaCl; 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0; 0.05 (V/V) NP-40; 0.02% (W/V) sodium azide) that had been presorbed with BSA (5 mg/mL) was then added to the solution in equal volume and incubated with gentle agitation every 10 minutes for 30 minutes. Immunoprecipitates were washed three times with sarcosyl wash buffer (50 mM phosphate buffer; pH 7.4; 0.1 M KCl; 0.5% Sarcosyl (W/V); 0.02% sodium azide (W/V)) and intermittent pelleting of the <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> in a microcentrifuge at maximum speed (12 000 rpm) for 10 seconds. <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> pellets were resuspended by vortexing until no visible pellet remained (20 seconds). After the final wash, pellets were resuspended in 1 X protein sample buffer (PSB), followed by boiling for 5 minutes prior to SDS-PAGE.

#### 2.5 Radioiodination of Proteins

50  $\mu$ g of target protein was dissolved in 100  $\mu$ L of fresh 1x PBS, pH 7.4. Separately, 2 iodo-beads (Pierce) were placed in a 1.5ml eppendorf tube and washed twice with 1ml of PBS. The beads were then blotted on 3M whatman paper to dry, and placed in a fresh 1.5mL eppendorf tube. The protein solution was added to the beads and work was transferred into a fume hood. 5µL of  $^{125}\mathrm{I}$ (approximately 0.5 mCi) was added to the protein/beads. The tube was capped and placed in a lead pig at room temperature. The reaction time was determined empirically and was generally between 30 - 60 seconds. The reaction was stopped after the appropriate amount of time, with the addition of 100  $\mu$ L of 1M KI in PBS. The reaction mix (200 $\mu$ L now) was added to 800  $\mu$ L of PBS and this mixture was deposited onto a 10DG desalting column (Biorad) previously equilibrated with 2 column volumes of PBS. 1mL fractions were collected by alternately adding 1mL of PBS to the column, then collecting 1mL of eluant until 10 fractions were collected in total. Typically, the iodinated protein product eluted in fraction 4 or 5 as determined via gamma counter analysis (LKB-Wallac). 5µL samples from each fraction were placed in 0.5mL eppendorf tubes, which in turn were placed into carrier tubes and analyzed on the gamma counter.

#### 3 Antisera

Rabbit antisera to total reovirus proteins obtained by intramuscular (IM) and subcutaneous (SC) injection into female New Zealand white rabbits as previously described. Rabbit antisera to  $\sigma$ 1 was prepared as described by Yeung et al. (1987). Rabbit antiserum (purified immunoglobulin G (IgG) fraction) to annexin VI (MC2 antibody) was obtained as a generous gift from Dr. Stephen E. Moss (University of London, U.K.).

#### 4 Electrophoresis and Gel Processing

# 4.1 Sodium Dodecyl-Sulphate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis of Proteins (SDS-PAGE)

A discontinuous SDS-polyacrylamide slab gel as described by Laemmli (1970) was used for all SDS-PAGE procedures. The stacking gel was composed of: 3.4% acrylamide (W/W); 0.09% (W/W) N,N'-methylenebisacrylamide; 2.8% (V/V) glycerol; 145mM TRIS-CI, pH 6.8; 0.1% SDS. 1 mg/mL ammonium persulfate (APS) and 0.05% (V/V) N,N,N',N'tetramethylethyldiamine (TEMED). The resolving gel was composed of: 10% acrylamide:bisacrylamide (37.5:1 ratio); 380 mM TRIS-CI (pH 8.8); 0.05% SDS; 0.7 mg/mL APS, and 0.04% (V/V) TEMED. The gel size utilized was 13.5 cm (height) X 17.5 cm (width) X 0.3 cm (thickness), and electrophoresis was performed at a constant current of 35 milliamps (mA) for 2-4 hours. Running buffer composition was: 25 mM TRIS-base, pH 8.45; 0.19 M glycine; 5% (V/V) glycerol; and 0.1% SDS. Samples were incubated in protein sample buffer (final concentration: 50 mM TRIS, pH 6.8; 1% SDS; 2%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol; 10% glycerol; and 0.01% bromophenol blue) for 30 minutes at either 4°C or 37°C or boiled immediately for 5 minutes prior to SDS-PAGE, which was performed at either room temperature at 35mA for 2.5 hours or at 4°C (for temperature-sensitive experiments) at 25mA for 4 hours, until the tracking dye had reached the desired distance along the gel.

#### 4.2 Processing of SDS-PAGE Gels

Gels of experiments that incorporated [<sup>35</sup>S]methionine as a label were developed by fixing with gel fix (ddH2O:Methanol:Acetic Acid in a 30:6:4 ratio) for at least 20 minutes, followed by a 5 minute wash in DMSO (Dimethylsulfoxide), followed by rocking in DMSO for 30 minutes, followed by rocking the gel for 45 minutes in 20% PPO (2,5-diphenyloxazole (W/V) in DMSO), followed by washing through constantly running tap water for at least 30 minutes. The gels were then dried onto 3mm filter paper (Whatman) for 90 minutes at 77°C on a slab drier (Biorad, model 583).and exposed at -70°C to Kodak XAR-5 film.

Gels of experiments that incorporated <sup>125</sup>Iodine as a label were developed by fixing with gel fix for 30 minutes, followed by washing under a continuous flow of tap water for 5 minutes, followed by drying for 90 minutes at

77°C on a slab drier (Biorad, model 583).and exposed at -70°C to Kodak XAR-5 film.

## 4.3 Coomassie Staining

Gels electrophoresed to completion were placed into a coomassie staining solution (1 .0 % (w/v) coomasie brilliant blue R-250 (Biorad), 10% (V/V) methanol, 15% (V/V) acetic acid in ddH<sub>2</sub>O), rocking gently at room temperature for at least 4 hours. The unincorporated stain was removed from the gel with successive changes of destaining solution (10% (V/V) methanol, 15% (V/V) acetic acid in ddH<sub>2</sub>O) until protein bands could be visualized. The gels were then incubated while rocking at room temperature in ddH<sub>2</sub>O overnight to remove the background stain. Glycerol was then added to a final concentration of no more than 0.5%, followed by further incubation for 60 minutes, and the gels preserved between sheets of acetate (Biorad) or photographed immediately.

#### 4.4 Agarose Gel electrophoresis

1% agarose gels were made by adding 1 g of dry agarose to 100 mL of 1 X TRIS-acetate buffer (TAE) (50 X solution made by 242 g TRIS base into 57.1 mL glacial acetic acid and 100 mL of 0.5 M EDTA, pH 8.0), and heating the heterogeneous solution in a microwave oven until all the agarose had dissolved. 5μL of 10 mg/mL ethidium bromide were then added to the dissolved agarose, and the resulting solution mixed and poured into an agarose gel mould which was allowed to cool at room temperature until the gel was set. Agarose gels were run in 1 X TAE buffer at a constant voltage of 120 volts until the desired degree of band separation was achieved. Nucleic acid bands were visualized directly by placing the agarose gels on top of an ultraviolet light source, and viewed through protective eyeware.

#### 5 Cloning and Bacteriology Protocols

#### 5.1 Propagation and Storage of Bacterial Cells and Plasmids

A variety of <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> host strains were used in this work, including, HB101 and XL1blue as general work horse strains. The JM110 strain was utilized in instances where dam-, dcm- markers were required. Master stocks of the host strains, or host strains containing plasmid, were picked from single colonies and grown in LB broth, at 37°C for 16 to 24 hours, with shaking. All culture medium used for growing host cells with plasmid contained 100 µg/mL of ampicillin, since all plasmids used carried a gene for ampicillin resistance. 0.5 mL aliquots were mixed with an equal volume of 100% glycerol in 2mL cryotubes, and were then quick frozen by immersion in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70°C. Master stocks were also maintained as needed by streaking onto LB agar plates, incubating at 37°C for 16-24 hours and storing at 4°C for up to one month. Plasmids maintained in <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> include; pG4T3s1,pG4T3dII and PG4AVI. All parental plasmids were derivatives of PGEM-4Z (Promega).

#### 5.2 Large Scale Preparation of Plasmid DNA

Two methods of preparing large scale quantities of plasmid DNA were utilized, Triton-lysate plasmid isolation and Magic Maxi-Preps (Promega). For the triton-lysate preparation, plasmid DNA was prepared from 1L cultures inoculated with the desired host strain containing plasmid. The innoculum was obtained either from an isolated colony on an LB agar plate, or a loop full of frozen master stock was used to inoculate 5mL of LB broth in a culture tube. This was shaken at 37°C for 6 to 8 hours and used to inocculate 1L of LB broth. The 1L was shaken at 37°C for 16 to 24 hours. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 3500 rpm in a J.S 4.2 rotor (2000 x g) for 20 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the pellet rinsed with a 4°C solution of 10mM TRIS-HCI, 1mM EDTA (TE), pH 7.5. The pellet was resuspended in 4.5 ml of ice cold sucrose buffer (50 mM TRIS-HCl pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA, 25% sucrose (W/V)) and transferred to a clean / sterile 36 mL high speed polypropylene centrifuge tube. Solutions were kept on ice from then on. After a 10 minute incubation, 1 mL of a freshly prepared 10 mg/mL lysozyme was added and mixed gently. This was incubated a further 10 minutes, and then 1.8 mL of cold 0.25 M EDTA pH 8.0 was added and gently mixed and the solution was incubated 10 minutes. After incubation, 13 mL of ice cold triton-lytic buffer (50 mM TRIS-HCl pH 8.0, 60 mM EDTA, 2% Triton-X100) was slowly added while mixing gently on ice. This was allowed to incubate 20 minutes before a 30 minute centrifugation was performed, at 16k rpm / 4°C in a JA-20 rotor. After centrifugation the supernatant was decanted into a disposable 50 ml conical centrifuge tube. To this, 1 g of CsCl was added per mL of supernatant, as well as, 300  $\mu$ L of 10 mg/mL ethidium bromide. This was mixed until everything was dissolved. Subsequently, this
mixture was decanted into Beckman polyallomer quick heat seal tubes. These were centrifuged in a TI 70 rotor at 60k rpm for 16 hours at 22°C. DNA bands were illuminated under ultraviolet light, harvested by aspiration into test tubes, and the ethidium bromide extracted using water-saturated n-butanol as follows. Approximately one volume of water saturated n-butanol was mixed with the DNA solution, allowed to separate and the n-butanol phase removed by careful aspiration from the top down to the meniscus. This was repeated until the DNA solution was completely clear upon visual inspection (usually three or four times). If necessary, the volume was decreased by sequential additions of 0.6 volume sec-butanol, with mixing and subsequent removal of the butanol phase as described above. The DNA solution was then dialyzed against TE, pH 8.0, with at least 4 changes of buffer, allowing a minimum of 2 hours between buffer changes. The DNA solution was then decanted into 15 mL polypropylene tubes (Falcon) and was precipitated by the addition of 3 volumes of -20°C 95% EtOH and incubation at -20°C overnight. Following centrifugation the pellets were washed twice with 70% EtOH and once with 95% EtOH. The pellet was dried and resuspended in ddH<sub>2</sub>O. DNA concentration was estimated by standard A<sub>260</sub> measurements (Sambrook et al., 1989). DNA was stored at -70°C until required.

The alternative method of large scale DNA preparation was via the Magic Maxiprep DNA purification System (Promega). The procedure followed is outlined in Promega Technical Bulletin no. 139 with minor modifications. Briefly, 500 ml of culture was centrifuged, and the pellet was resuspended in 10 ml of cell resuspension buffer (Promega) and transferred to a 36 mL high speed centrifugation tube. Once thoroughly resuspended, 10 mL of cell lysis solution (Promega) was added with gentle mixing and was allowed to stand until the solution became clear, or to a maximum of 5 minutes. 10 mL of neutralization

solution (Promega) was then added with immediate mixing by inversion. Following centrifugation (17,000 x g / 30 minutes), the supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube and mixed with 0.8 volumes of isopropanol. Following centrifugation the pellet was resuspended in 2 mL of TE, and mixed with 10 mL of Magic Maxiprep DNA Purification Resin (Promega). The DNA/resin mix was added to a Magic Maxicolumn (Promega) and drawn into the column by applying a vacuum to the end of the column. The DNA/resin mix was washed twice with 12.5 mL of Column Wash Solution (Promega) and rinsed with 20 mL of 80% EtOH and dried by continuing to draw a vacuum for 10 minutes. 1.5 mL of preheated (76°C) ddH<sub>2</sub>O was then applied to the maxicolumn and the DNA eluted by centrifugation in a swinging bucket rotor (1,300 x g) for 5 minutes. The DNA was quantitated as described above.

#### 5.3 Small Scale Preparation of Plasmid DNA

Small quantities of plasmid DNA, suitable for analytical purposes, was prepared according to two methods - the lysozyme-boiling method and the Magic Minipreps DNA Purification System (Promega). The lysozyme-boiling method will be described first.

Following centrifugation of a 5 mL overnight culture (4,000 x g / 10 minutes) the cells were resuspended in 200  $\mu$ L of STET buffer (8% (W/V) Sucrose; 5% (V/V) Triton X-100; 50mM EDTA; 50mM TRIS, pH 8.0) and transferred to a 1.5 mL microfuge tube. 50 $\mu$ L of 10 mg/mL lysozyme was added and the solution was incubated for 1 minute and then boiled for 45 seconds. After pelleting in a microfuge (10 -15 minutes / 4°C), 10  $\mu$ L of preboiled RNase A

in ddH<sub>2</sub>O (10 mg / mL) was added to the supernatant followed by incubation at 65°C for 15 minutes. The mixture was then extracted once with phenol /chloroform (containing 4% isoamyl alcohol) and twice with chloroform only. The upper aqueous phase was then precipitated by adding 0.5 volumes of 7.5 M ammonium acetate and three volumes of 95% EtOH, with overnight incubation at -20°C. After pelleting the DNA at 4°C for 20 minutes in a microfuge, the pellet was washed twice with 70% EtOH, and once with 95% EtOH and allowed to air dry. The pellet was resuspended in 50  $\mu$ L of ddH<sub>2</sub>O and quantitated by standard A<sub>260</sub> measurements (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). DNA was stored at -70°C.

The alternative method of small scale DNA preparation was via the Magic Miniprep DNA purification System (Promega). The procedure followed is outlined in Promega Technical Bulletin no. 117 with minor modifications. Briefly, 5 mL of culture was centrifuged, and the pellet was resuspended in 200  $\mu$ L of cell resuspension buffer (Promega) and transferred to a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube. 200 µL of cell lysis solution was then added with gentle mixing and was allowed to stand until the solution became clear, or to a maximum of 5 minutes. 200 µL of neutralization solution (Promega) was then added with immediate mixing by inversion. Following microcentrifugation at high speed, the supernatant was transferred to a fresh 1.5 mL tube and mixed with 1 mL of Magic Miniprep DNA Purification Resin (Promega). The DNA/resin mix was added to a 3 mL luer lock disposable syringe (Becton Dickinson) and pushed into a Magic Minicolumn (Promega) with the syringe plunger. The DNA/resin mix was washed with 2 mL of Column Wash Solution (Promega). The minicolumn was then transferred to a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube and spun in a microfuge at top speed for 30 seconds to dry the resin. The minicolumn was then transferred to a fresh microfuge tube and 50  $\mu$ L of preheated (70°C) ddH<sub>2</sub>O was then applied to the

minicolumn and incubated for 1 minute. The DNA was eluted by microcentrifugation at top speed for 30 seconds. The DNA was quantitated as above.

# 5.4 Restriction Endonuclease Digestion

All restriction endonuclease digestions were performed following manufacturer's recommendations for the supplied buffers. For complete digestion of plasmid DNA, 3 units of enzyme per up of DNA was used. Plasmid from small scale cultures was resuspended in a total of 50  $\mu$ L, and 5 to 10  $\mu$ L was used for analysis by restriction enzyme digestion and gel electrophoresis. Plasmid prepared from large scale cultures was resuspended to a concentration of approximately 0.5  $\mu$ g /  $\mu$ L and approximately 20 to 30  $\mu$ g of DNA was used for digestion if fragments were to be isolated and purified from agarose gels. Digestion mixtures were incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes to 1 hour, and 1  $\mu$ L of the mixture analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis. Procedures requiring digestion with two different enzymes in different buffers were performed by either of two methods. If the two buffers required were similar, the second buffer was obtained by adding the additional buffer components to the mixture. In addition the first enzyme would be heat inactivated by incubation at 65°C for 15 minutes. to limit star activity. If the two buffers required could not be obtained via simple addition of components, the digestion mixture was cleaned using the Magic DNA Clean-Up System (Promega). The procedure for clean up was followed as outlined in Promega Technical Bulletin no. 141. The DNA mixture was combined with 1 mL of Magic DNA Clean-Up Resin (Promega), and added to a 3 mL luer lock disposable syringe (Becton Dickinson). This mixture was then pushed into a

Į

Magic Minicolumn (Promega) with the syringe plunger. The DNA/resin mix was washed with 2 mL of 80% isopropanol, and then the minicolumn was transferred to a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube and spun in a microfuge at top speed for 30 seconds to dry the resin. The minicolumn was then transferred to a fresh microfuge tube and 50  $\mu$ L of preheated (70°C) ddH<sub>2</sub>O was then applied to the minicolumn and incubated for 1 minute. The DNA was then eluted by microcentrifugation at top speed for 30 seconds. The DNA was then used for subsequent restriction endonuclease digestion.

## 5.5 Agarose Gel Purification of Restriction Endonuclease Fragments

Restriction endonuclease fragments were separated on a 0.7 % agarose gel containing 0.25  $\mu$ g of ethidium bromide / mL of gel in TAE buffer. The gel was removed from the apparatus and the fragment of interest was identified by visual comparison with a concurrently run 1 kbp DNA ladder (BRL) using ultraviolet light illumination. The band of interest was cut out by trimming away as much agarose as possible that did not contain DNA. This DNA block, was then cut up into fine fragments with a clean, sterile scalpel and transferred to a microcentrifuge tube containing 1 mL of Magic DNA Clean-Up Resin (Promega). After this point the methods for cleaning the DNA are as above for the use of the Magic DNA Clean-Up System (Promega). Interestingly, the resin would dissolve the agarose and alleviated the need for expensive low melting agarose. The purified DNA was then run on an agarose preparatory gel to ensure integrity and quantitated using standard A<sub>260</sub> measurements (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). The purified fragments were subsequently used in ligation reactions.

#### 5.6 T4 DNA LIgase Reactions

Ligations were performed in a 10  $\mu$ L volume using 1.0 to 2.0 units of T4 DNA ligase and previously prepared 5x ligation buffer (50 mM TRIS-HCl pH 7.5; 50 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 50 mM DTT; 5 mM ATP; filter sterilized and stored at -20°C). Usually the molar ratio of vector : insert was 1:2 or 1:3, with a total DNA concentration of 100 to 300 ng per reaction. Ligation mixtures were incubated in a thermocycler at 13°C overnight (12 to 16 hours). The ligation mixture was then diluted to 45  $\mu$ L with distilled water and 15  $\mu$ L of the diluted reaction mixture was used to transform 100  $\mu$ L of competent cells.

## 5.7 Preparation of Competent Cells

A culture tube containing 5mL of LB broth was inoculated with the desired bacterial host and shaken at 37°C for 16 to 20 hours. 1mL of this culture was used to inocculate 50 mL of fresh LB broth which was then shaken at 37°C for ~2.5 hours (until OD<sub>600</sub> = 0.4). The flask was then placed on ice for 10 minutes; thereafter the culture was transferred to a clean, sterile 50 mL conical tube (prechilled) and the cells were harvested by centrifugation (2500 x g) at 4°C for 15 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the cells resuspended in 10 mL of ice cold CaCl<sup>2</sup> buffer (50mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>; 10 mM TRIS-HCl pH 8.0). The cells were incubated 15 minutes on ice, and then centrifuged (2500 x g) at 4°C for 15 minutes. The cells were resuspended in 2 mL of CaCl<sub>2</sub> buffer and aliquoted in 200  $\mu$ L aliquots into sterile 1.5 mL microfuge tubes. The cells were stored at 4°C and were used for transformation after a 24 hour waiting period, but before 48 hours.

## 5.8 Transformation of <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u>

100  $\mu$ L of competent cells were placed into a prechilled 15 mL Falcon 2059 polypropylene tube and 1.7  $\mu$ L of 1:10 dilution of (stock 14.4 M)  $\beta$ mercaptoethanol was added, giving a final concentration of 25 mM. The cells were swirled gently and allowed to sit on ice for 10 minutes with occasional swirling. 50 to 100 ng of DNA was added to the cells with swirling. In addition, 11  $\mu$ l of 10x TCM (100mM TRIS-HCl pH 7.4; 100 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>; 100 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>) was added with swirling. The mixture was allowed to incubate on ice for 30 minutes, before a heat pulse in a 42°C water bath was performed for 45 seconds.

Following the heat pulse, the cells were placed on ice for 2 minutes and then 0.5 mL of preheated (42°C) LB broth was added. This was followed by incubation with shaking for 1hr at 37°C. 200uL of cells were then plated on LB agar plates (containing either 100  $\mu$ g / mL of ampicillin). The plates were incubated overnight (16-20 hours) in a 37°C incubator and individual colonies were picked for subsequent procedures.

Results

.

.

# Part I Conformational Change in Reovirus

### 6 Introduction

The initial interaction between an invading virus and the target cell involves both the cell attachment protein on the virus and the virus receptor on the host cell plasma membrane. Of all the reovirus proteins,  $\sigma$ 1 alone possesses intrinsic cell binding capabilities, and as such, is responsible for the specific high affinity attachment of virions to susceptible cells (Lee et al., 1981; Armstrong et al., 1984) and thus plays a pivotal role in viral infectivity and tissue tropism (Sharpe and Fields, 1985). In agreement with predictions from sequence analysis, biochemical and biophysical studies have provided unequivocal evidence that the globular head and the fibrous tail represent the Cand N-terminal portions, respectively, of  $\sigma$ 1 (Strong et al., 1991). It was further shown that  $\sigma^1$  is a trimer and that the N- and C-terminal halves each harbors an independently active trimerization domain (Leone et al., 1992). The two halves are also functionally independent since the C-terminal globular head can bind to cell receptors even when it is separated from the N-terminal fibrous tail (Yeung et al., 1989; Duncan et al., 1991) and since the N-terminal one-quarter of  $\sigma$ 1 possesses intrinsic virion-anchoring function (Mah et al., 1990; Leone, et., al., 1991). However, as revealed in the following investigation, there is communication between the two termini upon  $\sigma$ 1 binding to cell receptors.

While significant revelations have been made on the structure-function relationships of  $\sigma$ 1, the nature of the reovirus receptor is less well-defined. It was suggested earlier that a 67K protein which shares structural similarities with

the ß-adrenergic receptor is the reovirus receptor (Co et al., 1985a; Co et al., 1985b). However, subsequent studies on human epidermoid carcinoma A431 cells and mouse L fibroblasts have cast serious doubts on this claim (Choi and Lee, 1988; Sawutz et al., 1987). Indeed, evidence that sialic acid is the major signal for reovirus recognition (Paul et al., 1989; Gentsch and Pacitti, 1985; Gentsch and Pacitti, 1987) suggests that reovirus binds to multiple sialoglycoproteins, rather than to a single homogeneous species, on the cell surface. Results from ligand-blot analyses concur with this notion (Choi et al., 1990). There is now little doubt that the initial interaction between reovirus and the host cell involves the binding of the  $\sigma$ 1 globular head to cell surface sialic acids. A pertinent question would then be whether this interaction alone could trigger conformational changes in  $\sigma$ 1 and in other viral capsid proteins.

In the following study the protease pepsin was used to demonstrate that the main body of the reovirus undergoes conformational change upon cell binding. Structural changes in  $\sigma$ 1 were also detected when it alone bound to cells. These changes were observed to be reversible upon detachment of the virion, or  $\sigma$ 1, from cells. It was further demonstrated that the binding of  $\sigma$ 1 to the  $\alpha$ -anomeric form of sialic acid is sufficient to trigger this reversible conformational change.

# 6.1 Cell Binding Induces Conformational Change in Reovirus

Since a conformational change in reovirus upon cell attachment would likely involve a reorganization of capsid proteins, protease digestion experiments were carried out in an attempt to detect this change. Various proteases were used, and it was determined that the best results were obtained with pepsin.

 $^{35}$ S-labeled reovirus was allowed to bind to an L cell monolayer at 4°C for an hour after which pepsin was added and the cells were incubated further for 15 minutes at 37°C. For the control sample, pepsin was added to the cell monolayer at the same time as reovirus. The results (figure 4A) show that reovirus was totally degraded when added to the monolayer at the same time as pepsin. However, cell-bound reovirus was protected from degradation by the protease. Interestingly, the  $\sigma$ 3 protein of reovirus was not protected from pepsin degradation to the extent of the other structural proteins.

To rule out the possibility that enhanced resistance to pepsin was due to virus internalization, however unlikely, during incubation at 4°C, similar experiments were carried out on purified plasma membranes of L cells. Again, with the exception of protein  $\sigma$ 3, other capsid proteins of membrane-bound reovirus were protected from pepsin degradation (figure 4B). Essentially the same results were obtained using glutaraldehyde-fixed cells instead of live cells (figure 5). It would appear, therefore, that the binding of the virion to the cell surface is sufficient to trigger conformational changes in the viral capsid proteins. The fact that protein  $\sigma$ 3 of cell- and membrane-bound virions remained relatively susceptible to pepsin suggests that the observed effects are not due to the masking of bound virions by cell surface structures in their vicinity, rendering them less accessible to pepsin.

# 6.2 Cell-Induced Conformational Change in Reovirus is Reversible

It has previously been shown for picornaviruses that upon temperatureupshift (from 20<sup>o</sup>C to 37<sup>o</sup>C), a significant fraction of the bound virus is released

# Figure 4 Pepsin Digestion of Prebound, Cell-bound and Membranebound Reovirus.

(A) Pepsin digestion of prebound virus was carried out by adding pepsin (+) or buffer (-) to L cell monolayers (in 24-well plates) at the same time as <sup>35</sup>Sreovirus, followed by incubation at 37°C for 15 minutes For cell-bound virus, pepsin digestion was carried out on monolayers to which reovirus had been allowed to bind (see Materials and Methods). Protein sample buffer was then added to the wells, and the cell lysates were harvested, boiled, and analyzed by SDS-PAGE.

(B) Same as (A) except immobilized L cell membranes were used instead of cell monolayers.



# Figure 5: Pepsin Digestion of Prebound and Fixed Cell-bound Reovirus

Pepsin digestion of prebound virus was carried out by adding pepsin (+) or buffer (-) to glutaraldehyde-fixed monolayers (in 24 well plates) at the same time as <sup>35</sup>S-reovirus, followed by incubation at 37<sup>o</sup>C for 15 minutes. For cell-bound reovirus, pepsin digestion was carried out on fixed monolayers to which reovirus had been allowed to bind (see Methods and Materials). Protein sample buffer was then added to the wells, and the cell lysates were harvested, boiled, and analyzed by SDS-PAGE.



from the cells. The released viruses are structurally and antigenically altered and no longer able to bind to cells. To see whether reovirus, like picornaviruses, is also irreversibly altered after cell binding, reovirus was allowed to attach to cells at 4°C for 1 hour after which the cells were washed with cold (4°C) medium, followed by incubation at 37°C. A significant portion (approximately 70-80%) of bound virus became detached upon temperature-upshift, again confirming the extracellular nature of these viruses. The released virus particles were then tested for their susceptibility to pepsin and ability to rebind to cell receptors. Figure 6 clearly shows that whereas cell-bound virions were relatively resistant to pepsin digestion, the released virions reverted back to the pepsin-sensitive state and retained the ability to bind to cells at 4°C. The rebound virions again became relatively pepsin-resistant. This experiment demonstrates that unlike picornaviruses, reovirus undergoes a reversible conformational change upon binding to cells.

## 6.3 Cell Binding Induces Conformational Change in σ1

The observation that receptor binding induces a conformational change in the main body of the virion implies that a signal is relayed from the viral attachment protein,  $\sigma$ 1, to the other capsid proteins. It would therefore be of interest to see whether receptor binding at the C-terminal globular head of  $\sigma$ 1 could cause a conformational change at the N-terminal fibrous tail which is the region anchored to the virion. To this end, we used the previously characterized protease chymotrypsin which removes 24 amino acids from the N-terminal end of  $\sigma$ 1, yielding a functional 46 KDa polypeptide. *In vitro* synthesized  $\sigma$ 1 was applied to L cells and binding was carried out at 4<sup>o</sup>C. Subsequent digestion

# Figure 6: Pepsin digestion of cell-bound and released reovirus.

<sup>35</sup>S-reovirus was allowed to bind to L cell monolayers and analyzed for sensitivity to pepsin degradation (bound virus) as in Fig. 4A. Following binding to cells at 4<sup>o</sup>C, unbound virus was washed away and the monolayers were re incubated in PBS (pH 7.2) for 1 hour at 37<sup>o</sup>C. Supernatants that contained eluted virus (released virus) were then collected, cleared by microcentrifugation, and added to new L cell monolayers at the same time as pepsin (+) or buffer (-). Alternatively, the released virus was allowed to bind to new L cell monolayers for 1 hour at 4<sup>o</sup>C (rebound virus) and subsequently treated with pepsin (+) or buffer (-). All samples were boiled in protein sample buffer prior to analysis by SDS-PAGE.



with chymotrypsin resulted in the total cleavage of unbound  $\sigma 1$  (to either the 46 kDa protein or smaller fragments), whereas a significant amount of cell-bound  $\sigma 1$  remained intact (figure 7). These results suggest, but do not prove, that binding of  $\sigma 1$  to cell receptors induces a conformational change at the N-terminal end of the protein.

# 6.4 Cell Binding Enhances Stability of the N-terminal α-Helical Coiled Coil

It is important to complement the above chymotrypsin studies with another method of measuring receptor-induced structural alterations in  $\sigma$ 1, in particular the N-terminus of  $\sigma$ 1. Since the N-terminal heptad repeats confer stability of the  $\sigma$ 1 trimer via the formation of a three-stranded  $\alpha$ -helical coiled coil, any receptor-induced changes in  $\sigma$ 1 stability would be indicative of structural alterations in  $\sigma$ 1, or more specifically, the N-terminal fibrous tail of  $\sigma$ 1. The clearest results were obtained with a  $\sigma$ 1 deletion mutant (designated dII) lacking part of the  $\alpha$ -helical coiled coil region (residues 123-223). This mutant nonetheless forms functional trimers (i.e., capable of binding to cells) that are less stable than full-length  $\sigma$ 1 trimers (see below). When subjected to SDS-PAGE at 4°C after preincubation (also at 4°C) in protein sample buffer, the dII protein migrated as a trimer (figure 8). However, if the preincubation was carried out at 37°C, it migrated as a monomer. This is distinct from full-length  $\sigma$ 1 which retains its trimeric state under the same conditions.

The stability of cell-bound dll trimers was then assessed. The results (figure 8) clearly show that dll manifested enhanced stability upon cell-binding, migrating as a trimer after preincubation in SDS at 37°C. Moreover, after

# Figure 7: Chymotrypsin digestion of prebound and cell-bound protein $\sigma$ 1.

.

Full-length  $\sigma$ 1 was synthesized *in vitro* and applied to L cell monolayers. Chymotrypsin was added to the cells either at the same time as  $\sigma$ 1 (prebound) or 1 hour later (bound). Digestion was carried out at 4<sup>o</sup>C for 15 minutes Protein sample buffer was then added to the cells either prior to washing (for prebound  $\sigma$ 1) or after washing (for bound  $\sigma$ 1). Lysates were harvested, boiled, and analyzed by SDS-PAGE.



# Figure 8 Comparison of Thermostability between prebound, cell-bound, and released protein dll.

Protein dII (lacking part of the N-terminal portion of  $\sigma$ 1) was synthesized *in vitro* (prebound) and incubated in protein sample buffer at 4°C, 37°C, or boiled (B). Alternatively, dII was allowed to bind to L cell monolayers as described in Methods and Materials. The monolayers were then washed, and were either harvested in protein sample buffer and incubated at the temperatures indicated (cell-bound) or reincubated in PBS for 1 hour at 37°C. The supernatants from the latter procedure (containing released dII) were then incubated in protein sample buffer at the temperatures indicated. All samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE carried out at 4°C.



spontaneous detachment from cells at  $37^{\circ}$ C, the dII trimer reverted back to its original, unstable state. Although it is safe to assume that conformational changes most likely also occur in the C-terminal globular head upon cell-binding, analysis of the pre- and post-bound C-terminal tryptic fragment of  $\sigma$ 1 did not reveal any detectable difference in stability between these two forms (figure 9). These results therefore confirm that the enhanced stability of the dII trimer is due to structural changes at the N-terminal  $\alpha$ -helical region of  $\sigma$ 1.

#### 6.5 Sialic Acid-Binding Induces Conformational Change in σ1

In view of the overwhelming evidence that  $\alpha$ -sialic acid is the first recognition signal on the cell surface for reovirus binding, we examined the ability of sialic acid alone to induce conformational change in  $\sigma$ 1, again using the dll mutant protein as probe. To maintain the  $\alpha$ -anomeric form of sialic acid in solution, a sialo-BSA conjugate (Paul et al., 1989) was used instead of pure sialic acid. The dll protein was incubated with either BSA (control) or sialo-BSA at 4<sup>o</sup>C, followed by incubation in SDS-containing protein sample buffer at either 4°C or 37°C. The samples were then subjected to SDS-PAGE. The results (figure 10) show that dll trimers incubated with the BSA control were stable in SDS at 4°C, but became unstable at 37°C. However, in the presence of sialo-BSA, a moderate, yet highly reproducible, enhancement of dll trimer stability at  $37^{\circ}C$  (in SDS) was consistently observed. Thus, the effects of  $\sigma^{1}$  binding to sialic acid alone and to cells are similar since both lead to enhanced stability of the  $\sigma$ 1 N-terminal  $\alpha$ -helical coiled coil. Like cell-bound dll trimers, the sialo-BSA-bound dll protein reverted back to its unstable configuration when the incubation temperature for binding of the dll/sialo-BSA mixture was raised from

# Figure 9: Thermal Stability of the C-terminal Trimer of dll

Protein dll (lacking part of the N-terminal portion of  $\sigma$ 1) was synthesized *in vitro* (prebound) and cleaved with insoluble chymotrypsin in PBS, according to titration of the chymotrypsin with dll protein. The cleaved product was allowed to bind to L cell monolayers as described in Methods and Materials. The monolayers were then washed, and harvested in protein sample buffer and incubated at the temperatures indicated for 30 minutes or boiled (B) for 5 minutes. Unbound dll was incubated in protein sample buffer at the indicated temperatures for 30 minutes. All samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE carried out at 4<sup>o</sup>C.



# Figure 10. Thermostability of protein dll in the presence and absence of sialic acid.

Protein dII synthesized *in vitro* was incubated with either bovine serum albumin (BSA) or a sialo-BSA conjugate (both adjusted to pH 7.4) for 1 hr at 4°C. Protein sample buffer was then added and the samples were incubated at 4°C, 37°C, or boiled (B). Alternatively, after the initial incubation at 4°C, the samples were shifted to 37°C and incubated for an additional hour prior to the addition of protein sample buffer and incubation at the indicated temperatures. Samples were then subjected to SDS-PAGE carried out at 4°C.



 $4^{\circ}$ C to  $37^{\circ}$ C. Based on similar observations made on cell-bound virions,  $\sigma$ 1, and dII described above, it seems reasonable to deduce that this conformation reversion was due to the detachment of a significant portion of dII from sialo-BSA at  $37^{\circ}$ C. These experiments therefore illustrate that sialic acid-binding alone is accountable for the reversible conformational change in  $\sigma$ 1. Unfortunately, attempts to demonstrate conformational changes in whole virions using sialo-BSA were not feasible due to the large amount of the conjugate that would be required.

#### 6.6 Discussion

The mechanism of viral entry has been an area of intense research of late. In the case of enveloped viruses, it is widely believed that attachment of the virus to the host cell receptor leads to the exposure of hydrophobic domains on the viral attachment or fusion protein which in turn mediates the fusion of the viral envelope with the host cell plasma or endosomal membrane (for review see Bentz, 1993 and Helenius, 1992). How nonenveloped viruses cross the cell membrane is less clear. However, it has long been established that attachment of picornavirus to cells is accompanied by drastic conformational changes of the virion, resulting in alterations in antigenicity, increased protease sensitivity, loss of the internal capsid protein VP4 and of the ability to reattach to cells (Crowell and Philipson, 1971; DeSena and Mandell, 1977; Fenwick and Wall, 1973; Lonberg-Holm and Korant, 1972). Of particular interest is the finding that the N-terminus of the poliovirus VP1 protein, which is entirely internal in the native

virion, becomes externalized upon attachment to cells and confers the ability to attach to liposomes (Fricks and Hogel, 1990). Since the putative receptor binding sites on picornavirus reside in deep depressions on the viral capsid (Hogle et al., 1985; Luo et al., 1987; Rossman et al., 1983), it can easily be seen how receptor binding could result in the perturbation of the overall structural integrity of the virus. On the other hand, there is little, if any, information on receptor-induced conformational changes in other nonenveloped viruses such as adenovirus and reovirus that use extended, icosahedrally-arranged fibers as attachment proteins. This, coupled with the fact that the reovirus cell attachment protein,  $\sigma$ 1, has been well-characterized, prompted the present studies.

The results indicate that upon attachment to cellular receptors, reovirus capsid proteins undergo a structural rearrangement which is detectable in the main body of the virion as well as in protein  $\sigma$ 1. Since the initial recognition between reovirus and cell receptors involves  $\sigma$ 1-sialic acid interaction, it is important to demonstrate that sialic acid alone can induce a similar conformational change in  $\sigma$ 1. This was indeed found to be the case. The binding of  $\sigma$ 1 to cell receptors or sialic acid leads to detectable conformational changes at the N-terminal fibrous stalk of the protein. Collectively, these results suggest that receptor (sialic acid) binding leads to a temporal progression of structural alteration in the virion, starting from the C-terminal receptor binding domain of  $\sigma$ 1, down the shaft of the protein towards the N-terminal virion-anchoring domain, and being subsequently relayed to the rest of the virion (figure 11). Based on what is known about other virus systems, it seems logical to conjecture that these conformational changes are necessary for subsequent steps in reovirus entry. Our results are also compatible with the recent

# Figure 11 Model of reovirus interaction with the cell surface

Binding of virion (A) via protein  $\sigma$ 1 to a sialic acid-bearing moiety on the cell surface (first step interaction) induces a conformational change which is initiated in the C-terminal receptor-binding domain of  $\sigma$ 1, progresses to the N-terminus of the protein, and subsequently spreads to other capsid proteins (B and C). The structurally-altered virion (C) is then ready for the second step interaction which likely involves additional host cell factors and leads to subsequent viral entry (not depicted). However, if conditions are unfavorable for this interaction, the virus may elute from the cell surface, reassume its original prebound structure (D), and be ready to attach again.



.

demonstration, by cryoelectron microscopy and image reconstruction, that reovirions and *in vitro*-generated intermediate subviral particles and cores (the latter two being accepted as true intermediates in reovirus infection) display significant differences in supramolecular structure and protein conformation that are related to the early steps of reovirus infection (Dryden et al., 1993). Of the two major outer capsid proteins ( $\mu$ 1C and  $\sigma$ 3), the  $\mu$ 1C protein, but not  $\sigma$ 3 protein, becomes particularly resistant to pepsin upon receptor binding. Thus, receptor-mediated conformational change in  $\mu$ 1C is likely important for reovirus penetration. It is interesting to note in this regard that results from recent genetic (Lucia-Jandris et al., 1993) and biochemical (Nibert et al., 1991; Nibert and Fields, 1992) studies suggest that proteolytic fragments of the  $\mu$ 1 protein (from which  $\mu$ 1C is derived) play a role in interacting with cell membranes. It is therefore not inconceivable that receptor binding causes  $\mu$ 1C to adopt a conformation more amenable to membrane association.

The observation that the receptor-induced conformational changes are reversible upon release of the reovirus or of  $\sigma$ 1 from the receptor is interesting and compatible with the concept that the binding that leads to reovirus entry is a two-step process involving distinct viral and cellular components, and with the second step being a consequence of the first. Unlike picornaviruses, which recognize very specific cell surface structures (members of the immunoglobulin super gene family), reovirus uses the ubiquitous sialic acid as its first recognition signal. This initial interaction leads to conformational changes in the virion that are most likely a prerequisite for the second interaction. Under conditions which do not favor this latter step (for example, due to inaccessibility of the altered virion to the pertinent cell component involved), the virus may detach from the sialic acid, revert back to its original conformation, and be ready to attach again

(figure 11). This process is repeated until conditions which favor the second interaction are met, and viral entry ensues as a consequence (Fernandes et al., 1994). It can easily be seen how such a "ping-pong" binding mechanism which rejuvenates inconsequential encounters could enhance the probability of productive infection.

In view of the morphological similarities between adenovirus and reovirus, a comparison between these two viruses in terms of attachment and entry is inevitable. Recent evidence suggests that indeed, adenovirus entry also involves a two-step mechanism, with the first step being the binding of the icosahedrally-distributed fibers to cellular receptors yet to be identified (Philipson et al., 1968; Defer et al., 1990), and the second step involving the interaction between the penton base (connected to the N-terminus of the fiber) and cell membrane integrins, which then leads to virus internalization (Wickham et al., 1993). It is not known at present whether the adenovirus fiber and other capsid proteins undergo conformational changes upon virus attachment. However, based on our present findings on reovirus, it is conceivable that this may well be the case, with the end result being a drastic enhancement of the second step interaction. Conversely for reovirus, an interaction similar to the one between the adenovirus penton and integrins likely occurs and is being probed. These predictions, if confirmed, will provide general and unifying concepts pertaining to entry strategies employed by nonenveloped, fiber-bearing viruses, analogous to those already established for enveloped viruses.

### Part II The Second Reovirus Receptor

#### 7 Introduction

It is well known that reovirus recognizes sialic acid on cell surfaces (Armstrong et al., 1984; Gentsch and Pacitti, 1985; Pacitti and Gentsch, 1987; Paul and Lee, 1987; Paul and Lee, 1989), and that the  $\alpha$ -anomeric form of sialic acid is the minimal determinant necessary for L-cell binding to cell surfaces (Paul et al., 1988). In light of the finding that reovirus undergoes a reversible, sialic acid-dependent conformational change upon L-cell binding, it seems reasonable to hypothesize the existence of a second reovirus cell surface receptor. Precedent for the phenomenon of a dual receptor binding mechanism in an unenveloped animal virus has been discussed (See Introduction, chapters 2-4 and Discussion in Results, chapter 6.6).

The identification of a specific reovirus receptor (other than sialic acid) was attempted previously on various cell types. No ubiquitously present proteinaceous receptor, however, has been identified for reovirus. Reovirus recognition of sialic acid-bearing proteins of 54 (Verdin et al., 1989) and 67 kDa (Co et al., 1985) on both endothelial and murine thyoma (R1.1) cells, respectively, has been reported. However, it has also been reported that reovirus recognizes multiple proteins on mouse fibroblast (L-929) cell surfaces (Choi et al., 1990). This multiple recognition, however, was likely the result of reovirus recognizing sialic acid, which is a component of many cell surface glycoproteins.

Previous work by others in our lab resulted in observations of a protein of 67 kDa that was conjectured to be the reovirus receptor protein. This protein

was isolated from purified and solublized L-929 cell membranes that had been passed through a wheat germ affinity (WGA) column, which selected for sialic acid-bearing proteins. This protein was later found to be capable of inhibiting reovirus binding to L-929 cells (Paul, R., Choi, A., Taylor, P., and Lee, P. *Unpublished Data*).

Further work in our lab showed that a 68 kDa protein eluted from a reovirus (reovirus immobilized onto sepharose 4b) column only under extreme elution conditions when purified, solublilized human epidermal carcinoma (A431) cell membrane had been passed through the column. Partial amino acid degradation analysis, as well as specific antibody recognition led us to postulate the identity of this protein as annexin VI, a protein belonging to a relatively new family of proteins (see Introduction, chapters 5-8). The following section describes our efforts to both purify this protein to near homogeneity from L-929 cells and to identify this protein, which we hypothesize to function as the second reovirus receptor.

# 7.1 Isolation of a 68 kDa Protein from Mouse L-929 Cell Fibroblasts

Cell plasma membranes were purified from approximately 12 litres of L929 cell membrane (approximately 9.6 X 10<sup>10</sup> cells) as described in the methods and materials, with the exception that 4 litres of L-929 cells were allowed to reach 2 X 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL before the membranes were harvested. Purified plasma membranes were solublized on ice for 10 minutes in membrane solublization buffer (20mM HEPES, pH 7.4; 150mM NaCl; 1% (V/V) Triton X-100). After pelleting the insoluble membrane fraction at 12 000 rpm for 1 minute in a microcentrifuge, the supernatant containing the solublized membrane
fraction was retained, and the pellet discarded. The solublized membrane was diluted with load buffer (20mM HEPES, pH 7.4; 150mM NaCl) to make the final Triton X-100 concentration 0.1% (V/V). All subsequent steps were carried out at 4°C. A 2 mL reovirus column (see methods and materials) was prewashed with 20 mL of load buffer. The solublized membrane was loaded onto the column at a rate of 10 mL/hour and recirculated onto the column for 4 hours. The membrane load was collected and the wash and elution processes initiated.

The column was washed with 10 bed volumes of low salt wash buffer (20mM TRIS, pH 7.4; 150mM NaCl), followed by 10 bed volumes of high salt wash buffer (20mM TRIS, pH 7.4; 150mM NaCl; 0.037% (V/V) Triton X-100). 1 mL fractions were collected in sterile polypropylene microfuge tubes on an LKB 2112 REDIRAC fraction collector. The column was then treated with 65 bed volumes of elution buffer (100mM glycine, pH 2.6; 100mM NaCl; 0.037% (V/V) Triton X-100). 1 mL fractions were collected as described above, with the exception that approximately 30 $\mu$ L of 1.5 M TRIS, pH 7.4 was added to each fraction collection tube (prior to collection) to buffer each of the approximately 130 fractions to neutrality. 100  $\mu$ L of each fraction was boiled with 25  $\mu$ L of 5X protein sample buffer (final concentration: 50 mM TRIS, pH 6.8; 1% SDS; 2%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol; 10% glycerol; and 0.01% bromophenol blue) for 5 minutes before being subjected to SDS-PAGE (followed by Coomassie staining - see Methods and Materials, chapters 4.1 and 4.3) for analysis.

The results (figure 12) indicated that a protein band of approximately 68 kDa eluted from the reovirus column between fractions 53 and 64. The protein band appeared to be relatively homogeneous and a relatively minor component of the solublized cell plasma membrane preparation (figure 13). No observable

#### Figure 12: Low pH Elution Fractions from a Reovirus Column

Solublized L-929 cell membrane was loaded onto a 2 mL reovirus column as described. The column was washed with 10 bed volumes of low salt wash buffer, followed by 10 bed volumes of high salt wash buffer (see results). The remaining protein was eluted with elution buffer (glycine, pH 2.6) and 1 mL fractions were collected as described. Each fraction was boiled in SDScontaining protein sample buffer and analyzed by SDS-PAGE, followed by Coomassie staining. A 68 kDa protein was observed to elute between fractions 53 and 64, representing 26.5 and 32 bed volumes , respecively, elution buffer.



#### Figure 13: Peak Fractions from the Reovirus Column Washes and Elution

Solublized L-929 cell membrane was loaded onto a 2 mL reovirus column as described. The column was washed with 10 bed volumes of low salt wash buffer, followed by 10 bed volumes of high salt wash buffer (see results). The remaining protein was eluted with elution buffer (glycine, pH 2.6) and 1 mL fractions were collected as described. Each fraction (including the preload, flowthrough and wash fractions) was boiled in SDS-containing protein sample buffer and subjected to SDS-PAGE. Peak fractions were identified by Coomassie staining and samples of each were subjected to SDS-PAGE, followed by Coomassie staining for analysis.



protein was eluted when low salt elution buffer, high salt elution buffer, or elution buffer were run through the reovirus column and samples collected for analysis (data not shown). Additionally, this protein appeared to elute from the reovirus column relatively late in the elution process, indicating a relatively strong interaction with the column-immobilized reovirus.

## 7.2 Sialic Acid Enhanced Recovery of the 68 kDa Protein from a Reovirus Column

Because the minimal determinant for binding and conformational change in reovirus is sialic acid, it was postulated that sialic acid-altered reovirus could bind to its second receptor (ie. the 68 kDa protein) with greater affinity. We surmised that the treatment of the column-immobilized reovirus with sialic acid could increase the relative amount of p68 bound to (and therefore eluted from) the column. To test this hypothesis, the same reovirus receptor isolation was performed as described previously with the exception that 0.1 M sialic acid (Nacetyl Neuraminic Acid) (final concentration) was included in the membrane preparation prior to loading on the reovirus column.

The results (figure 14) show that the inclusion of sialic acid in the column load drastically increased the amount of p68 eluted from the reovirus column. Again, this protein appeared to be relatively homogeneous. Samples from the membrane load, the flow-through, as well as peak fractions from the low salt and high salt washes indicate that p68 (from the sialic acid-enhanced recovery) is a relatively minor membrane protein, and has a seemingly high affinity for reovirus.

95

## Figure 14: Sialic Acid-Enhanced Recovery of p68 from a Reovirus Column

Solublized L-929 cell membrane was loaded onto a 2 mL reovirus column as described, with the exception that 100mM of sialic acid in 100mM TRIS, pH 7.4 (+ sialic acid) or 100mM TRIS, pH 7.4 (- sialic acid) were included in the solublized membrane preparation prior to loading onto the reovirus column. The column was washed with 10 bed volumes of low salt wash buffer, followed by 10 bed volumes of high salt wash buffer (see results). The remaining protein was eluted with elution buffer (glycine, pH 2.6) and 1 mL fractions were collected as described. Each fraction (including the preload, flow-through and wash fractions) was boiled in SDS-containing protein sample buffer and subjected to SDS-PAGE. Peak fractions were identified by Coomassie staining and samples of each were subjected to SDS-PAGE, followed by Coomassie staining for analysis.



#### 7.3 Sialic Acid Enhanced Binding of Reovirus to p68

Although the previous experiment infers that sialic acid-altered reovirus has increased affinity for p68, questions regarding this interaction remained. To eliminate questions regarding the functional viability of sepharose-immobilized reovirus, a more direct experiment was performed *in-vitro*.

 $25 \,\mu\text{L}$  of reovirus (4 mg/mL) in PBS was incubated with 100  $\mu\text{L}$  of 125]labeled p68 (from a reovirus column purification) for 1 hour at 37°C in the presence or absence of 0.1M sialic acid (N-acetyl Neuraminic acid, final concentration). Solutions were buffered to neutrality by the inclusion of 100mM TRIS, pH 7.4 (final concentration). The solutions were then immunoprecipitated (see methods and materials, chapter 2.4) with an anti-reovirus antibody, run on an SDS-PAGE and analyzed by autoradiography.

The results (figure 15) indicated that reovirus interacted with p68 *in vitro*, in both the presence and absence of sialic acid. Sialic acid ,however, was observed to increase the interaction of reovirus by two to three times. Immunoprecipitation of reovirus by normal rabbit serum did not result in any signal, indicating that the interaction between reovirus and p68 is relatively specific.

# 7.4 Preliminary Identification of p68 by an Annexin VI-Specific Antibody

As previously mentioned, preliminary data led us to speculate that the identity of p68 was annexin VI. Both proteins have been isolated from cell plasma membranes, and migrate on SDS-PAGE at 68 kDa. Preliminary evidence from antibody recognition studies, as well as partial amino acid

#### Figure 15: Sialic Acid-Enhanced Recognition of p68 by Reovirus

 $^{35}$ S-Reovirus (+reovirus) or buffer (-reovirus) was incubated with  $^{125}$ Ilabelled p68 in the presence (+sial) or absence (-sial) of 100mM sialic acid at  $^{37^{o}}$ C for 30 minutes. Samples were then immunoprecipitated (see Methods and Materials) with normal rabbit serum (NRS) or anti-total reovirus serum ( $\alpha$ Reo3). Samples were boiled in protein sample buffer for 10 minutes and subjected to SDS-PAGE, followed by processing and autoradiography (see Methods and Materials).



hydrolysis of a 68 kDa reovirus column-purified A431 cell membrane protein indicated several similarities between this protein and annexin VI. For these reasons, we subjected the L-929 cell membrane, reovirus column purified p68 protein to immunoprecipitation with an antibody specific for annexin VI (a generous gift from Dr. Stephen Moss, University of London, U.K.). Normally, this antibody is capable of immunoprecipitating annexin VI only in the presence of at least 0.3% (W/V) SDS, presumably because the antibody is directed against a partially denatured form of annexin VI. The results (figure 16) show that the annexin VI antibody (MC2) immunoprecipitated the p68 protein. The results further indicate that the presence of various amounts of SDS inhibited the ability of MC2 to immunoprecipitate the reovirus column-purified p68. This observation is probably due to the fact that the p68 protein was eluted from the reovirus column under relatively strong denaturing conditions (pH 2.6), and was at least partially denatured as a result of this treatment.

#### 7.5 Aggregation of p68 and Annexin VI by Calcium

Although there are few, if any, defining functional features of annexin VI, one feature has been accepted by virtually all investigators in the annexin field. Annexin VI as well as all of the other annexin proteins (see introduction, chapters 5-8) are able to bind calcium with high affinity and be strongly aggregated by calcium ions. We therefore attempted to observe this phenomenon in both purified annexin VI as well as the reovirus column-purified p68 protein.

### Figure 16: Immunoprecipitation of p68 by an Anti-Annexin VI Antibody

<sup>125</sup>I-labelled annexin VI was immunoprecipitated (see Methods and Materials) with normal rabbit serum (NRS) or an anti-annexin VI antibody (MC2) in the presence of various concentrations of SDS (W/V) as indicated. Samples were boiled in protein sample buffer for 5 minutes and subjected to SDS-PAGE, followed by processing and autoradiography (see Methods and Materials).

.



Purified annexin VI from bovine lung was obtained (a generous gift from Dr. D. Waisman, Department of Medical Biochemistry, University of Calgary) and subjected to incubation (alongside with iodinated p68) with 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> for 10 minutes at 37°C. Samples were vortexed and then boiled in SDS and  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol-containing protein sample buffer for 10 minutes, prior to analysis on SDS-PAGE, subjected to coomassie staining and autoradiography.

The results (figure 17) indicate that in the presence of 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, both purified bovine annexin VI and p68 are strongly aggregated, and are retained as aggregates after boiling in protein sample buffer, as that these samples did not even penetrate the gel matrix. Other work in our lab has indicated that reovirus column-purified p68 from A431 cell membrane is also a calcium binding protein (unpublished data). The calcium binding activity for this protein, however, was manifested as an SDS-PAGE protein band shift, rather than simple aggregation of the protein.

#### 7.6 Sub-cloning of Human Recombinant Annexin VI

Because we hypothesize the identity of L-929 cell membrane derived p68 to be annexin VI, we attempted to repeat the previously described experiment (section 7.3) in which reovirus was found to recognize p68 in a sialic acidenhanced manner. Additionally, because we had an in vitro expression system for reovirus protein  $\sigma$ 1, we decided to perform a  $\sigma$ 1/annexin VI cotranslation experiment to determine if there were any detectable interaction between annexin VI and  $\sigma$ 1. To do this experiment, we obtained the cDNA for human recombinant annexin VI (a generous gift from Dr. S. Moss, University of London, U.K.) and subcloned this gene into an expression vector

#### Figure 17: Aggregation of p68 and Annexin VI by Calcium

I-<sup>125</sup>-labeled p68 or Annexin VI (AVI) were incubated with 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> (+) or buffer (-) for 10 minutes at 37°C. Samples were boiled in protein sample buffer for 5 minutes and subjected to SDS-PAGE, followed by processing and autoradiography for the radioactive samples, or coomassie staining for the non-radioactive samples (see Methods and Materials).



for *in vitro* transcription and translation. Briefly, human recombinant cDNA for annexin VI was supplied in a bluescript KS vector (Stratagene), and flanked on both the 5' and 3' ends by Pst1 sites. The both the annexin VI-containing bluescript vector and a PGEM-4Z expression vector (Promega) were digested to completion with Pst1 (see Methods and Materials, chapter 5). The relevant agarose gel-purified fragments were ligated, and the resulting vectors transformed into competent <u>E.coli</u> (see Methods and Materials, chapter 5) for amplification and screening for the SP6-translatable clone of annexin VI in the PGEM-4Z vector. Digestion of small scale plasmid preparations (see Methods and Materials, chapter 5) with BamH1, EcoR1, Pst1 and Ssp1 revealed a bacterial colony containing an SP6-translatable clone of human recombinant annexin VI in the PGEM-4Z vector (figure 18) . The bacterial colony was grown into a large scale plasmid preparation (see Methods and Materials, chapter 5) and RNA was produced *in vitro* from a HindIII-linearized plasmid preparation (see Methods and Materials, chapter 5).

## 7.7 Interaction Between Recombinant Annexin VI and Reovirus is Enhanced by Sialic Acid.

Because we observed an interaction between p68 and reovirus, we elected to see if a similar observation could be made of reovirus and recombinant human annexin VI. To this end, [ $^{35}$ S]methionine-labeled human annexin VI was translated *in vitro* as previously described (chapter 2), and one fourth of a reaction (50 µL) was incubated with 25 µL of 4 mg/mL of reovirus for one hour at 37°C in the presence or absence of 0.1M sialic acid (N-acetyl





Neuraminic acid, final concentration). Solutions were buffered to neutrality by the inclusion of 100mM TRIS, pH 7.4 (final concentration). The solutions were then immunoprecipitated (see Methods and Materials, chapter 2.4) with normal rabbit serum, an anti-annexin VI antibody, and an anti-reovirus antibody. Samples were boiled for 10 minutes in SDS-containing protein sample buffer and subjected to SDS-PAGE, processed and analyzed by autoradiography (see Methods and Materials).

The results (figure 19) indicated that reovirus interacted with recombinant human annexin VI *in vitro*, in both the presence and absence of sialic acid. Sialic acid ,however, was observed to drastically increase the interaction of reovirus and annexin VI. Immunoprecipitation of reovirus by normal rabbit serum did not result in any signal, indicating that the interaction between reovirus and recombinant human annexin VI is relatively specific.

# 7.8 Cotranslation of Recombinant Human Annexin VI and Reovirus Protein σ1

Because the reovirus attachment protein is  $\sigma$ 1, we postulated that association of the virus with annexin VI could occur through  $\sigma$ 1. Because association between reovirus and p68 as well as annexin VI appeared to be relatively strong, we predicted that an association between protein  $\sigma$ 1 and reovirus would exhibit similar strength. To this end, we performed a cotranslation of [<sup>35</sup>S]methionine-labeled proteins  $\sigma$ 1 and annexin VI, and subjected this cotranslation to incubation in protein sample buffer at various temperatures to determine whether there was an association between these two proteins. Normally, after incubation in protein sample buffer at 4°C, protein  $\sigma$ 1

#### Figure 19: Sialic Acid-Enhanced Recognition of Annexin VI by Reovirus

Reovirus was incubated with *in-vitro* translated [ $^{35}$ S]-methionine-labelled annexin VI (p68) in the presence of 100mM sialic acid (+sial) or buffer (-sial) at 37°C for 30 minutes. Samples were then immunoprecipitated (see Methods and Materials) with normal rabbit serum (NRS) or anti-total reovirus serum ( $\alpha$ Reo3) or anti-annexin VI (MC2). Samples were boiled in protein sample buffer for 10 minutes and subjected to SDS-PAGE, followed by processing and autoradiography (see Methods and Materials).



migrates as a compact form. At  $37^{\circ}$ C incubation in protein sample buffer, however,  $\sigma$ 1 migrates as a less compact "hydra", which represents the partial denaturation of this protein at its C-terminus (the cell binding domain).

The results (figure 20) show that there was no difference in the compact to hydra shift of  $\sigma$ 1 when translated alone or with annexin VI. Annexin VI migrated the same at all temperatures, whether or not it was translated with  $\sigma$ 1. This lack of observable interaction suggests, but does not prove that reovirus interaction with annexin VI occurs though a reovirus protein other than  $\sigma$ 1.

# 7.9 Lack of Interaction between Recombinant Proteins $\sigma$ 1 and Annexin VI

Because we were able to observe an interaction between reovirus and both p68 and recombinant human annexin VI through use of radioimmunoprecipitation, we attempted a similar experiment, using recombinant  $\sigma$ 1 in place of reovirus. Briefly, human recombinant annexin VI and recombinant reovirus protein  $\sigma$ 1 were separately translated *in vitro* (see Methods and Materials, chapter 2). Equal amounts of each translation mixture were then added to the same 1.5 mL microfuge tube and the resulting mixture was incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. The mixture was then immunoprecipitated with an anti-total reovirus antibody, an antibody specific for the C-terminus of  $\sigma$ 1 (G5), and an antibody specific for the N-terminus of  $\sigma$ 1.

The results (figure 21) indicate that although each of the  $\sigma$ 1 antibodies, as well as the anti-total reovirus antibody, recognized  $\sigma$ 1, none of these immunoprecipitations resulted in a signal from annexin VI, indicating a lack of detectable association of annexin VI with protein  $\sigma$ 1.

112

#### Figure 20: In Vitro Cotranslation of Annexin VI and $\sigma$ 1

 $\sigma$ 1 and annexin VI were either translated alone ( $\sigma$ 1 and AVI, respectively), or cotranslated (Cotrans.) for one hour at 37°C (see Methods and Materials). Samples were then incubated in protein sample buffer at the temperatures indicated for 30 minutes or boiled (B) for 10 minutes. The samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE, processed, and analyzed by autoradiography.



#### Figure 21: Lack of Interaction Between Annexin VI and $\sigma$ 1

Annexin VI and  $\sigma$ 1 were serarately translated in vitro, mixed and incubated at 37°C for one hour. The mixture was then immunoprecipitated (see Methods and Materials) with normal rabbit serum (NRS), an anti-total reovirus antibody ( $\alpha$ Reo3), an anti-C-terminus  $\sigma$ 1 antibody (G5) and an anti-N-terminus  $\sigma$ 1 antibody ( $\alpha$ N-term). The samples were then boiled in SDS-containing protein sample buffer for 10 minutes and subjected to SDS-PAGE, processed, and analyzed by autoradiography.



# 7.10 Amino Acid Composition Analysis Reveals Similarity Between p68 and Annexin VI.

In order to convincingly demonstrate the identity of p68, we attempted to purify enough of this protein for amino-terminal sequence analysis. To purify more of this protein, approximately 54 litres of L-929 cells (approximately 4.86 X  $10^{11}$  cells) were grown in spinner cultures (final growing cell density was allowed to reach 2 X  $10^6$  cells/mL) and the membranes harvested as previously described (see Methods and Materials, chapter 1). The protein was collected from elution through a 2 mL reovirus column as previously described. The resulting elution fractions were subjected to SDS-PAGE and analyzed by coomassie staining (see Methods and Materials, chapter 4). The identified fractions were vacuum-dried to a final volume of 0.5 mL and dialyzed against 5% (V/V) acetic acid to remove the Triton X-100. The dialyzed protein was then lyophilized and stored as a powder at -70°C until required. An aliquot was resuspended in PBS for quantitation at 280 nm (UV), and it was determined that approximately 15 µg of p68 had been recovered from the reovirus column.

Because previous efforts to sequence the 68 kDa protein from A431 cell membrane resulted in the determination of an N-terminal blockage of this protein, and because annexin VI is blocked from sequencing at its N-terminus, we attempted to sequence fragments of p68. Fragments of approximately 10  $\mu$ g of p68 were prepared by digestion with an excess of cyanogen bromide (CNBr) in the presence of 0.1N HCl. The resulting fragments were vacuum dried and sent for sequencing. Unfortunately, it was determined that there were not enough protein fragments to obtain any meaningful sequence. We therefore sent 5 more  $\mu$ g of the p68 protein for amino acid composition analysis

(Performed by Dr. Don McKay, Dept. of Medical Biochemistry, University of Calgary).

The results (table 4) indicated measurable amounts of each amino acid. These results were compared to a computer simulation of amino acid composition analysis of murine annexin VI, tabulated (table 4) and rendered for graphical comparison (figure 22). The graphical comparison of the relative amino acid contents of both murine p68 and annexin VI were virtually identical, indicating a very strong probability that murine p68 is actually murine annexin VI.

#### 7.11 Reovirus is Cross-linked to the Cell Cytoskeleton

Because reovirus attaches to L-929 cell surfaces (and undergoes a conformational change) in a totally reversible manner, it seems that infection of the cell would require a further interaction with reovirus at the cell surface. It seems likely that this further interaction would be relatively irreversible and may involve the second reovirus receptor. Additionally, evidence has suggested that annexin VI binds to F-actin in a calcium-dependent manner (see Introduction). We therefore postulated that at least some of the reovirus-cell receptor interactions are irreversible, and may involve a relatively irreversible interaction on the surface of susceptible cells. To gain support for this hypothesis, an experiment was performed to determine the nature of reovirus association on the cell suface.

Briefly, reovirus was allowed to bind to a confluent monolayer of L-929 cells as described in the Methods and Materials (chapter 1.10) for 1 hour at 4°C (to prevent virus internalization). The monolayers were then washed three times with pre-chilled (4°C) PBS, and the monolayers then covered with PBS

Amino Acid	Annexin VI	p68	% Annexin VI	%p68
A	60	43	9	9
D	73	51	11	11
E	85	67	13	14
F	25	19	4	4
G	42	32	6	7
1	46	25	7	5
к	54	40	8	9
L	65	50	10	11
M	21	9	3	2
Р	11	17	2	4
R	39	27	6	6
S	42	21	6	4
Т	36	24	6	5
V	28	27	4	6
Y	23	15	4	3

# Table 3:Amino Acid Compositions and % Compositions of MurineAnnexin VI and p68

# Figure 22: Comparison of Amino Acid Compositions of Murine Annexin VI and p68

p68 was purified from L-929 cell membranes as described, and submitted for amino acid composition analysis (performed by Dr. D. McKay, Protein Sequencing Facility, University of Calgary). The data was compared to the murine annexin VI amino acid composition derived from the Genbank database library. Cysteine and tryptophan were not included, due to degradation by the analysis procedure. Gln and Glu are summarized as Glu (E), and Asn and Asp are summaraized as Asp (D). The histidine value was also not included, due to conflict with a ninhydrin-detectable contamination.



## Percent Composition Comparison of Murine p68 with Murine Annexin VI

containing 1% (V/V) Triton X-100. The monolayers were incubated on ice for 10 minutes, washed gently with three changes of pre-chilled PBS, and harvested with SDS-containing protein sample buffer. Samples were boiled, subjected to SDS-PAGE, and coomassie stained for analysis (see chapter 4).

The results (figure 23) show that reovirus remains associated with the cell monolayer after treatment with Triton X-100. Because cell plasma membrane lipids are solublized by Triton X-100, the remaining proteins observed after this treatment were those proteins belonging to, or are associated with the cell cytoskeleton. It is clear from this data, therefore, that reovirus becomes cross-linked to the cell cytoskeleton sometime after binding, but before internalization. It is probable that this interaction represents the irreversible, but productive reovirus attachment to the cell surface, associating with the cell cytoskeleton possibly through annexin VI.

#### 7.12 Discussion

While it is clear that reovirus binds to multiple cell surface proteins, it is not known whether all of these interactions lead to a productive viral infection. Although the 68 kDa proteins seems to be the major protein recognized by reovirus in solublized L-929 cell membrane preparations, its role in the reovirus infection process remains in question. The similarities in CaCl<sub>2</sub> aggregation, annexin VI antibody recognition, sialic acid-enhanced reovirus binding and amino acid composition analysis strongly suggest, but do not prove that these proteins are identical.

#### Figure 23: Reovirus Becomes Cross-Linked to the Cell Cytoskeleton

Reovirus (+Reo3) or buffer (-Reo3) was exposed to an L-929 cell monolayer for binding at 4°C (see Methods and Materials) and the monolayers washed as described and then treated with buffer containing Triton X-100 (TX-100 treated) or harvested in SDS-containing protein sample buffer (Total Lysate). The Triton X-100 treated monolayers were washed with buffer as described and then harvested with SDS-containing protein sample buffer. Samples were boiled for 10 minutes, subjected to SDS-PAGE, and Coomassie stained for analysis (see Methods and Materials).



The association between p68 and reovirus is likely very strong, as that approximately 25 bed volumes of a very low pH buffer were required to elute this protein from the reovirus column. It is possible that the annexin VI-like 68 kDa protein reported here is coupled to sialic acid-bearing receptors on the cytoplasmic membrane, while retaining its affinity for reovirus. Although there are no reports on the glycosylation state of annexin VI in current literature, the possiblity of this protein being a sialoglycoprotein (and therefore a sialic acidbearing reovirus receptor) has not yet been ruled out. The unusually strong interaction of reovirus and p68, however, seemingly precludes the relatively weak ionic interaction common between a protein and a sugar moiety. An interaction between a virus and an annexin VI-coupled receptor protein has been reported for the Epstein-Barr virus. It was found that the EBV receptor (CR2) was associated with p53 in transformed B lymphocytes, but is associated with annexin VI in normal B lymphocytes (Barel et al., 1991).

Because annexin VI has been shown to be functional in the budding of clathrin coated pits (in the presence of ATP and calcium), it is possible that this protein may function similarly in reovirus internalization. Further, annexins V and VII have recently been shown to form calcium channels, while annexin VI has been found to function in the regulation of a cacium-release channel in the sarcoplasmic reticulum (Rojas et al., 1990; Huber et al., 1990; Hazarika et al., 1991; Diaz-Munoz et al., 1990). Annexin VI has also been shown to trimerize and bind to the inside surface of cell plasma membrane to form flat "pore-like" lattices, that concentrate acidic phospholipids at their centers (Newman et al., 1989). The localized concentration of acidic phospholipids by annexin VI could lead to localized alterations in membrane structure that may be taken advantage of by cell surface-bound reovirus. This is especially intriguing
in light of the recent demonstration that the  $\mu$ 1C reovirus capsid protein interacts with cell plasma membranes.

The observations that the second reovirus receptor is probably annexin VI, and that reovirus becomes cross-linked to the cell cytoskeleton soon after cell attachment leads us to hypothesize on a function for annexin VI in reovirus infection (figure 24). Annexin VI has been shown to bind F-actin in a calcium-dependent manner (Davies et al., 1984; Glenney et al., 1987; Glenney 1986; Gerke and Weber, 1984), and may serve to link reovirus to the cell cytoskeleton prior to the process of internalization.

Preliminary experiments have resulted in observations that reovirus causes a drastic increase in intracellular calcium concentration within seconds of cell attachment (Fernandes and Lee, Unpublished Data). This phenomenon may lead to an annexin VI-calcium interaction, which may cause annexin-VI to trimerize and associate with the cell plasma membrane as well as the cell cytoskeleton (Newman et al., 1989). This possibility is the focus of ongoing research in our lab.

Identification of annexin VI as the second reovirus receptor has led to intriguing insights as to the mechanism of reovirus internalization. Elucidation of the initial virus-cell interactions allow us to follow the next steps in virus-cell interactions, such as the elucidation of calcium-mediated second messages within the cell that may lead to internalization and shut-off of host protein synthesis. Advancement of this knowledge in the reovirus system is of potentially enormous value to the understanding of other virus internalization mechanisms, since it appears that despite gross dissimilarities among viral systems, certain critical elements such as the functions of the annexin proteins

## Figure 24 Model of Reovirus Interaction with its Two Cell Surface Receptors

Binding of virion (A) via protein  $\sigma$ 1 to a sialic acid-bearing moiety on the cell surface (first step interaction) induces a conformational change which is initiated in the C-terminal receptor-binding domain of  $\sigma$ 1, progresses to the N-terminus of the protein, and subsequently spreads to other capsid proteins (B and C). The structurally-altered virion (C) is then ready for the second step interaction which likely involves annexin VI (second step interaction) (D2) and a reovirus protein other than  $\sigma$ 1 and leads to subsequent viral entry (not depicted). However, if conditions are unfavorable for this interaction, the virus may elute from the cell surface, reassume its original prebound structure (D1), and be ready to attach again.



.

(see introduction, chapter 5) in virus-cell interactions, appear to be fundamental to a variety of virus families.

-

•

**Discussion and Future Prospects** 

.

٦

'n

Significant progress has been made in the understanding of reovirus-cell receptor interactions. It has been previously shown that the first reovirus receptor is sialic acid. As a result of this interaction, we have observed reversible alterations in reovirus structure, and have additionally identified a second receptor protein.

The existence of a two-receptor mechanism of virus attachment may serve several possible functions. First, the reovirus does not "waste" itself by irreversible attachment to non-permissive cells. Second, reovirus becomes localized to the cell surface, which effectively concentrates it for possible colocalization with its second receptor. Third, it is possible that reovirus is structurally more sensitive to environmental damage in its sialic acid-altered conformation. This conformation may be described as the "entry conformation" which, by nature of its reversibility, renders the reovirus only temporarily vulnerable.

The use of sialic acid by reovirus for its first receptor seems logical, as this carbohydrate moiety is a normal component of cell surfaces (Carr and Kim, 1993). It is difficult to imagine, therefore, that sialic acid alone defines reovirus tissue tropism and cell specificity. The use of annexin VI as a second reovirus receptor also seems logical, as that this protein exhibits extraordinary evolutionary conservation (Moss et al., 1988). The use of annexin VI as a possible determinant of cell specificity and tissue tropism by reovirus is supported by recent observations. It was found that Human Hepatitis B virus (which does not infect rat liver) small antigen (HBsAg) binds strongly to human liver-derived annexin V, and poorly to rat liver-derived annexin V (Hertogs et al., 1993). Annexin V is thus potentially capable of directing species specificity. despite the rather high degree of evolutionary conservation of this protein (>90%).

Despite our recent findings, much work is still required to gain an intimate understanding of reovirus-cell receptor interactions. It is possible, for example, that the reovirus dual receptor phenomenon occurs on the same protein, as that it has not yet been demonstrated whether annexin VI is sialylated. It must also be shown whether annexin VI is capable of defining tissue tropism and cell specificity. This question may be addressed by the transfection of an annexin VI-deficient cell line with annexin VI cDNA, in an attempt to enhance reovirus infection efficiency in the transformed cells. This cell line has been acquired by our laboratory, and these studies will commence shortly. Further, deletion mutagenesis and point mutation may allow us to precisely define the regions of reovirus interaction on the annexin VI molecule, allowing us to "fine tune" our knowledge of these specific regions of interaction.

Conclusive identification of annexin VI as a second reovirus receptor must still be made by a combination of protein p68 peptide fragment sequencing (as that the p68 protein is blocked from sequencing at its N-terminus (unpublished observation)) and peptide mapping. Because reovirus possibly interacts with annexin VI through a protein other than  $\sigma$ 1, the identity of this other reovirus protein remains to be demonstrated. It is probable that one or a combination of the other reovirus outer capsid proteins ( $\sigma$ 3,  $\mu$ 1C and  $\lambda$ 2) are responsible for this interaction. A likely candidate is protein  $\mu$ 1C. A mutant of this protein has long been known to lead to altered reovirus neurovirulence (Hrdy et al., 1982). This protein has also been shown to be myristoylated (Nibert et al., 1991) and is therefore capable of interacting in a hydrophobic medium, such as the cell plasma or endosomal membranes (Lucia-Jandris et al., 1993).  $\mu$ 1C has also been shown to punch small anion-selective channels through planar lipid bilayers (Tosteson et al., 1993). Finally, conformational changes have been observed in protein  $\mu$ 1C (Dryden et al., 1993), that could lead to exposure of its myristyl group for insertion into lipid membranes.

The best method of investigation as to the intricacies of reovirus/annexin VI interaction would be through X-ray crystallography of three-dimensional reovirus/annexin VI crystals. Another method of determining which reovirus protein interacts with annexin VI would be to probe a blot of reovirus proteins with <sup>125</sup>I-labeled annexin VI, to see whether the  $\mu$ 1C band is recognized by the protein. Immunoprecipitation of annexin VI from a mixture of annexin VI and soluble reovirus proteins may also specify the identity of the annexin VI-binding protein of reovirus. Additionally, a temperature-sensitive, entry-deficient mutant of reovirus has recently been acquired by our laboratory. This mutant contains a point mutation which alters only one amino acid in the  $\mu$ 1C protein. It will be interesting, therefore, to immunoprecipitate this reovirus from a mixture of mutant reovirus and annexin VI, that had been incubated at permissive and non-permissive temperatures, to see whether annexin VI co-precipitates with the reovirus mutant at only the permissive temperature.

Future research will also address the potential of calcium for a role in the reovirus infection process. Preliminary observations have suggested that a calcium spike is effected within the cell only seconds after reovirus exposure (Unpublished observations). Because annexin VI is a calcium-dependent phospholipid-binding protein, it is possible that a mechanism exists whereby reovirus causes localization of its second receptor to the cell membrane. Because calcium is such a strong second messenger for signal transduction inside the cell, it is possible that phenomena, such as phosphorylation

133

cascades, may result from reovirus cell attachment. These phosphorylation cascades may effect various reovirus infection processes, such as shutoff of host protein synthesis, cytoskeletal reorganization, and viral entry. Isolation of endosomes containing reovirus and, presumably, its receptor or receptor complex may reveal alternative protein phosphorylation patterns and shed light on the mechanisms of reovirus internalization.

Intimate understanding of reovirus-cell receptor interactions and mechanisms of internalization has many potential benefits. Features of the reovirus internalization mechanism may be common to other virus systems, potentiating the development of rational antiviral drug designs. Further, understanding the precise mechanisms of reovirus attachment and entry may potentiate the development of new strategies and vectors for tissue targeting in gene therapy. Because viruses are infectious, it is possible that knowledge gained from the reovirus system could be applied to the development of new viruses that specifically target and penetrate solid tumors.

As described, the potentials for application of an intimate understanding of the reovirus attachment and internalization mechanisms are enormous. Thus far, we have gained only a glimpse of previously unimagined horizons in our attempts to understand the interactions of only a few molecules in the vastness of nature.

134

References

,

.

.

Ahne, W., Thomson, I and Winton, J. 1987. Journal of Virology. Vol. 4, pp. 135-139.

- Albritton, L., Tseng, L., Scadden, D., and Cunningham, J. 1989. *Cell.* Vol., pp. 659-666.
- Armstrong, G., Paul, R., and Lee, P. 1984. Virology. Vol. 138, pp. 37-48.
- Babiss, L., Luftig, R., Weatherbee, J, Weihing, R., Ray, U., and Fields, B. 1979. Journal of Virology. Vol. 30, pp. 863-874.
- Bachi, T., Gerhard, W., and Yewdwll, J. 1985. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 32, pp. 128-143.
- Banerjea, A., Brechling, K., Ray, C., Erickson, H., Pickup, D., and Joklik, W. 1988. *Virology.* Vol. 167, pp. 601-612.
- Barel, M., Charriaut, C., and Frade, R. 1981. FEBS Letters. Vol. 136, pp. 114.
- Barel, M., Gauffre, A., Lyamani, F., Fiandino, A., Hermann, J., and Frade, R. 1991. Journal of Immunology. Vol. 147, pp. 1286-1291.
- Barret, T., and Inglis, S. 1985. *Growth, Purification and Titration of Influenza.* in <u>Virology. A Practical Approach.</u> Mahy, B. (Ed.). pp. 119-150. IRL Press, Oxford, England.
- Bassel-Duby, R., Jayasuriya, A., and Chatterjee, D. 1985. *Nature*. Vol. 315, pp. 421-423.
- Bazzi, M., and Nelsestuen, G. 1992. Biochemistry. Vol. 31, pp. 10406-10413.
- Bazzi, M., and Nelsestuen, G. 1991. Biochemistry. Vol. 30, pp. 971-979.
- Bazzi, M., and Nelsestuen, G. 1991a. Biochemistry. Vol. 30, pp. 7961.
- Bellamy, A., Shapiro, L., August J., and Joklik, W. 1967. *Studies on Reovirus RNA. Journal of Molecular Biology.* Vol. 29, pp. 1-17.
- Bellamy, A and Joklik, W. 1967. Journal of Molecular Biology. Vol. 29, pp., 19-26.
- Bentz, J. (Ed.). 1993. Viral Fusion Mechanisms. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fl.

- Bhat, S., Spitalnik, S., Gonzolez-Scarano, F., and Silberberg, D. 1991. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA*. Vol. 88, pp. 7131-7134.
- Bird, B., and Forrester, F. 1981. <u>Basic Labaratory Techniques in Cell Culture.</u> U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control. Atlanta, Georgia.
- Blomquist, M., Hunt, L., and Barker, W. 1984. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA*. Vol. 81, pp. 7363-7367.
- Buchkovich, K., Duffy, L., and Harlow, E. 1989. Cell. Vol. 58, 1097-1105.
- Burns, A., Magendzo, K., Srivan, A., Srivastava, M., Rojas, E., Alijani, M., and Polland, H. 1989. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA*. Vol. 86, pp. 3798-3802.
- Burstin, S., Spriggs, D., and Fields, B. 1982. Virology. Vol. 117, pp. 146-155.
- Cahan, L., Singh, R., and Paulson, J. 1983. Virology. Vol. 130, pp. 281-289.
- Carr, M. and Kim, P. Cell. 1993. Vol. 73, pp. 823-832.
- Cashdollar, W., Chmelo, R., Weiner, J., and Joklik, W. 1985. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA.* Vol. 82, pp. 24-28.
- Choi, A. and Lee, P. 1988. Virology. Vol. 163, pp. 191-197.
- Choi, A., Paul, R., and Lee, P. 1990. Virology. Vol. 178, pp. 316-320.
- Chow, M., Newmann, J., Fiman, D., Hogel, J., Rowlands, D., and Brown, F. 1987. *Nature*. Vol. 327, pp. 482-486.
- Clark, D., Moss, S>, Wright, N., and Crumpton, M. 1991. *Histochemistry.* Vol. 96, pp. 405-412.
- Cleveland, D., Zarbl, H., and Millward, S. 1986. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 60, pp. 307-311.
- Co, M., Gaulton, G., Fields, B., and Greene, M. 1985a. *Proceedings of the NAtional Academy of Science. USA.* Vol. 82, pp. 1494-1498.

- Co, M., Gaulton, G., Tominaga, A., Homcy, C., Fields, B., and Greene, M. 1985b. Proceedings of the NAtional Academy of Science. USA. Vol. 82, pp. 5315-5318.
- Cotten, M, Wagne, E., Zatloukal, K., and Birnstiel, M. 1993. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 67, pp. 3777-3785.
- Creutz, C., Zaks, W., Hamman, H. et al. 1987. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. Vol. 262, pp. 1860-1868.
- Crompton, M., Moss, S., and Crumpton, M. 1988. Cell. Vol. 55, pp. 1-3.
- Crowell, R., and Philipson, L. 1971. Journal of Virology. Vol. 8, pp. 509-515.
- Dalgleish, A., Beverley, P., Clapham., P., Crawford, D., Geaves, M., and Weiss, R. 1984. *Nature*. Vol. 312, pp. 763-767.
- Daniels, R., Downie, J., Hay, A., Knossow, M., Skehel, J., Wang, M., and Wiley, D. *Cell.* Vol. 40, pp. 431-439.
- Davies, A., Wigglesworth, N., Allen, D., Owens, R., and Crumpton, M. 1984. Biochemistry Journal. Vol. 219, pp. 301-308.
- De, B., Misono, K., Lukas, T., Mroczkowski, B., and Cohen, S. 1986. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. Vol. 261, pp. 13784-13792.
- Defer, C., Belin, M., Caillet-Boudin, M., and Boulanger, P. 1987. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 64, pp. 3661-3673.
- DeSena, J., and Mandell, B. 1977. Virology. Vol. 78, pp. 554-566.
- DeSena, J., and Mandell, B. 1976. Virology. Vol. 70, pp. 470-483.
- Devaux, P. 1991. Biochemistry. Vol. 30, pp. 1163.

 $\sim$ 

- Doring, V., Schleicher, M., and Noegel, A. 1991. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. Vol. 266, pp. 17509-17515.
- Driesen, H., Newman, R., Freemont, P., and Crumpton, M. 1992. *FEBS Letters*. Vol. 306, pp. 75-79.
- Dryden, K., Wang, G., Yeager, M., Nibert, M., Coombs, K., Furlong, D., Fields, B., and Baker, T. 1993. *Journal of Cell Biology.* Vol. 122, pp. 1023-1041.

- Duncan, R., Horne, D., String, J., Leone, G., Pon, R., Yeung, M., and Lee, P. Virology. Vol. 182, pp. 810-819.
- Eppstein, D., Marsh, Y., Schreiber, A., Newman, S., Torado, G., and Nestor, J. 1985. *Nature*. Vol. 318, pp. 663-665.
- Fenwick, M., and Wall, M. 1973. Journal of Cell Science. Vol. 13, pp. 403-413.
- Fernandes, J., Tang, D., Leone, G., and Lee, P. 1994. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* Vol. 269, pp. 17043-17047.
- Fields, B. 1982. Archives of Virology. Vol. 71, pp. 95-107.
- Fields, B., and Greene, M. 1982. Nature. Vol. 300, pp. 19-23.
- Finberg, R., Weiner, H., Fields., B., Benacerraf, B., and Burakoff, S. 1979. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA. Vol. 76, pp. 442-446.
- Flower, R., Wood, N., and Parente, L. 1984. *Advances in Inflammation Research*. Vol. 7, pp. 61-69.
- Fontana, A., and Weiner, H. 1980. Journal of Immunology. Vol. 125, pp. 2660-2664.
- Frade, R., Barel, M., Ehilin-Henriksson, B., and Klein, G. 1985. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA.* Vol. 82, pp. 1490-1493.
- Fraser, R., Furlong, D., Trus, B., Nibert, M, Fields, B., and Steven, A. 1990. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 64, pp. 2990-3000.
- Fricks, C., and Hogel, J. 1990. Journal of Virology. Vol. 64, pp. 1934-1945.
- Fried, H., Cahan, L., and Paulson, J. 1981. Virology. Vol. 109, pp. 188-192.
- Funakoshi, T., Heimark, R., Hendrickson, L., McMullen, B., and Fujikawa, K. 1987. Biochemistry. Vol. 26, pp. 5572-5578.
- Furlong, D., Nibert, M., and Fields, N. 1988. Journal of Virlogy. Vol. 62, pp. 246-256.
- Furuichi, Y, and Shatkin, A. 1976. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science.* USA. Vol. 73, pp. 3448-3452.
- Gaillard, R., Jr., and Joklik, W. 1982. Virology. Vol. 107, pp. 553-556.

Gaillard, R., Jr., and Joklik, W. 1980. Virology. Vol. 123, pp. 152-164.

- Garzelli, C., Onodera, T., Ray, U., and Notkins, A. 1985. *Journal of Infectious Diseases.* Vol. 152, pp. 640-643.
- Gaulton, G., Sharpe, A., Chang, D., Fields, B., and Greene, M. 1986. *Journal of Immunology*. Vol. 137, pp. 2930-2936.

Geisow, M. 1986. FEBS Letters. Vol. 203, pp. 99-103.

- Geisow, M., and Burgoyne, R. 1987. Annals of the New York Academy of Science. Vol. 493, pp. 563-576.
- Gentsch, J. and Pacitti, A. 1987. Virology. Vol. 161, pp. 245-248.
- Gentsch, J., and Pacitti, A. 1985. Journal of Virology. Vol. 56, pp. 356-364.

Gerke, V. 1991. Journal of Biological Chemistry. Vol. 266, pp. 1697-1700.

- Glenney, J. Jr., and Tack, B. 1985. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*. USA. Vol. 82, pp. 7884-7888.
- Glenney, J. Jr., Tack, B., and Powell, M. 1987. *Journal of Cell Biology*. Vol. 104, pp. 503-511.
- Gomatos, P., Prakash, O, and Stamatos, N. 1981. *Journal of Virology.* Vol. 39, pp. 115-124.
- Gomatos, P., Stamatos, N., and Sarkar, N. 1980. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 36, pp. 556-565.
- Greber, U., Willetts, M., Webster, P., and Helenius, A. 1993. *Cell.* Vol. 75, pp. 477-486.
- Greenwood, M., and Tsang, A. 1991. *Biochimica Biophysica Acta.* Vol. 1088, pp. 429-432.
- Greve, J., Davis, G., Meyer, A., Forte, C., Yost, S., Marlor, C., Kamarck, M., and McClelland, A. 1989. *Cell.* Vol. 56, pp. 839-847.
- Grundmann, U., Abel, K., and Kupper, H. 1988. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA.* Vol. 85, pp. 3708-3712.

Grunhaus, A., and Horowitz, M. 1992. Seminars in Virology. Vol. 3, pp. 237-252.

Guttman, N., and Baltimore, D. 1977. Virology. Vol. 82, pp. 25-36.

- Harvey, J., Bellamy, A., Earushaw, W., and Shutt, C. 1981. Virology. Vol. 112, pp. 240-249.
- Haspel, M., Onodera, T., Prabhaker, B., Horita, U., Suzuki, H., and Notkins, A. 1983. *Science*. Vol. 220, pp. 304-306.
- Hauptman, R., Maurer-Fogy, I., Krystek, E., Bodo, G., Andree, H., and Reutelingsperger, C. 1989. *European Journal of Biochemistry*. Vol. 185, pp. 63-71.
- Hazarika, P., Kaetzel, M., Sheldon, A., Karin, N., Fleischer, S., Nelson, T., and Dedman, J. 1991. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*. Vol. 46, pp. 78-85.

Helenius, A. 1992. Cell. Vol. 69, pp. 577-578.

- Hertogs, K., Leenders, W., Depla, E., De Bruin, W., Meheus, L., Raymackers, J, Moshage, H., and Yap, S. 1993. *Virology*. Vol. 197., pp. 549-557.
- Hogel, J., Chow, M., and Filman, D., 1985. Science. Vol. 29, pp. 1358-1365.
- Holmgren, J., Svennerholm, L., Elwig, H., Freman, P., and Strannegard, O. 1980. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA. Vol. 77, pp. 1947-1950.
- Horowitz, M. 1990. *Adenoviridae and Their Replication*. In <u>Virology</u>. Vol. 1, Fields, B. and Knipe, D., eds. New York: Raven Press, pp. 1679-1721.
- Huang, K., McGray, P., Mattaliano, R. et al. 1987. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. Vol. 262, pp. 7639-7645.
- Huang, K., Wallner, B., Mattaliano, R. et al. 1986. Cell. Vol. 46, pp. 191-199.
- Huber, R., Schneider, M., Mayr, I., Romisch, J., and Paques, E. 1990. *FEBS Letters*. Vol. 275, pp. 15-21.
- Huber, R., Berendes, R., Burger, A., Schneider, M., Karishkov, A., and Lueke, H. 1992. Journal of Molecular Biology. Vol. 223, pp. 683-704.

Huber, R., Romisch, J., and Paques, E. 1990. EMBO Journal. Vol. 9, pp. 3867-3874.

Huismans, H., and Joklik, W. 1976. Virology. Vol. 70, pp. 411-424.

lida, H., Hatae, T., and Shibata, Y. 1992. *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*. Vol. 40, No. 12., pp. 1899-1907.

Inada, T., and Mims, C., 1985. Journal of Virology. Vol. 66, pp. 1469-1477.

- Jacob, W., and Paston, I. eds. 1979. <u>Methods in Enzymology</u>. *Cell Culture.* Vol. 58. Academic Press, New York.
- Jaffe, H., Danel, C., Longenecker, G., Metzger, M., Setoguchi, Y., Rosenfeld, M., Gant, T., Thorgeirsson, S., Statford-Perricaudet, L., Perricaudet, M., Pavirami, A., Lecocq, J., and Crystal, R. 1992. *Nature Genetics*. Vol. 1, pp. 372-378.
- Johnston, P., Perin, M., Reynolds, G., Wasserman, S., and Sudhof, T. 1990. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry. Vol. 265, pp. 11382-11388.
- Joklik, W. 1985. Annual Reveiw of Genetics. Vol. 19, pp. 537-575.
- Joklik, W. Ed. 1983. The Reoviridae. Plenum Press, New York.
- Joklik, W. 1981. Microbiology Review. Vol. 45, pp. 483-501.
- Jostt, M., Weber, K., and Gerke, V. 1994. *Biochemistry Journal*. Vol. 298, pp. 553-559.
- Kaetzel, M., and Dedman, J. 1989. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* Vol. 160, pp. 1233-1237.
- Kaplan, R., Jaye, M., Burgess, W., Schlaepfer, D., and Haigler, H. 1988. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* Vol. 263, pp. 8037-8043.
- Kaye, K., Spriggs, D, Bassel-Duby, R., Fields, B., and Tyler, K. 1986. *Journal of Virology.* Vol. 59, pp. 90-97.
- Kilham, L and Margolis, G. 1970. *I. Virological Studies. Labaratory Investigations.* Vol. 21, pp. 183-188.
- Klatzman, D., Champagne, E., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Guetard, D., Hercend, T., Gluckman, J., and Montagnier, L. 1984. *Nature*. Vol. 312, pp. 767-768.
- Kohtz, D., Altman, A., Kohtz, J., and Puszkin, S. 1989. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 62, pp. 659-662.

- Kristensen, T., Saris, C., Hunter, T. et al. 1986. *Biochemistry*. Vol. 25, pp. 4497-4503.
- Laemmli, U. 1970. Nature. Vol. 227, pp. 680-685.
- Lazarowitz, S., Compans, R., and Choppin, P.W. 1971. *Virology*. Vol. 68, pp. 830-843.
- Lee, P. 1983. In (Comans, R., and Bishop, D., eds.) <u>Double Stranded RNA Viruses.</u> Elsevier. Plenum Press, New York. pp. 219-230.
- Lee, P., Hayes, E., and Joklik, W. 1981a. Virology. Vol. 108, pp. 134-146.
- Lee, P., Hayes, E., and Joklik, W. 1981b. Virology. Vol. 108, pp. 156-163.
- Lentz, T., Burrage, T., Smith, A., Crick, J., and Tignor, G. 1982. *Science*. Vol. 215, pp. 182-184.
- Leone, G., Maybaum, L., and Lee, P. 1992. Cell. Vol. 71, pp. 479-488.
- Leone, G., Mah, D., and Lee, P. 1991. Virology. Vol. 182, pp. 346-350.
- Li, J., D'Anrea, A., Lodish, F., and Baltimore, D. 1990. Nature. Vol. 343, pp. 762.
- Lin, H., Sudhof, T., and Anderson, R. 1992. Cell. Vol. 70, pp. 283-291.
- Lonberg-Holm, K., Gosser, L. and Kauer, J. 1975. *Journal of General Virology*. Vol. 27, pp. 329-342.
- Lonberg-Holm, K., and Korant, B. 1972. Journal of Virology. Vol. 9, pp. 29-40.
- Lucia-Jandris, P., Hooper, J., and Fields, B. 1993. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 67, pp. 5339-5345.
- Luo, M., Vriend, G., Kamer, G., Minor, I., Arnold, E., Rossmann, M., Boege, V., Scraba, D., Duke, G., and Palmenberg, A. 1987. *Science.* Vol., 235, pp. 182-191.
- Mah, D., Leone, G., Jankowski, J., and Lee, P. 1990. *Virology*. Vol. 179. pp. 810-819.
- Margolis, G., Kilham, L., and Gonatas, N. 1971. *Labaratory Investigations*. Vol. 24, pp. 91-100.

McCrae, M. 1985. *Double-Stranded RNA Viruses*, in <u>Virology</u>. A Practical Approach. Mahy, B., Ed. pp. 151-167. IRL Press, Oxford, England.

McCrae, M., and Joklik, W. 1978. Virology. Vol. 89, pp. 578-593.

- Mendelsohn, C., Wimmer, E., and Rancaniello, V. 1989. Cell. Vol. 56, pp. 855-865.
- Moss, S., Jacob, S., Davies, A., and Crumpton, M. 1992. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta.* Vol. 00, pp. 120-126.
- Moss, S., and Crumpton, M. 1988. FEBS Letters. Vol. 261, pp. 299-302.
- Moss, Crompton, M., and Crumpton, M. 1988. *European Journal of Biochemistry*. Vol. 177, pp. 21-27.
- Mustoe, T., Ramig, R, Sharpe, A., and Fields, B. 1978. Virology, Vol. 85, pp. 545-556.
- Nagata, L., Masri, S., Pon, R., and Lee, P. 1987. Virology. Vol. 160, pp. 162-168.
- Nagata, L., Masri, S., Mah, D., and Lee, P. Nucleic Acids Research. Vol. 12, pp. 8699-8710.
- Neurath, A., Strick, N., and Sproul, P. 1992. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. Vol. 175, pp. 461-469.
- Newman, R., Tucker, A., Ferguson, C., Tsernoglou, D., Leonard, K., and Crumpton, M. 1989. *Journal of Molecular Biology*. Vol. 206, pp. 213-219.
- Nibert, M., and Fields, B. 1992. Journal of Virology. Vol. 66, pp. 6408-6418.
- Nibert, M., Schiff, L., and Fields, B. 1991. Journal of Virology. Vol. 65, pp. 1960-1967.
- Onodera, T., Tonido, A., Ray, U., Jenson, A., Knazek, R., and Notkins, A. 1981. Journal of Experimental Medicine. Vol. 153, pp. 1457-1473.
- Owens, R., and Crumpton, M. 1984. *Biochemistry Journal.* Vol. 219, pp. 309-316.
- Pacitti A., and Gentsch, J. 1987. Journal of Virology. Vol. 61, pp. 1407-1415.
- Paul, R., and Lee, P. 1987. Virology. Vol. 159, pp. 94-101.
- Paul, R., Choi, A., and Lee, P. 1989. Virology. Vol. 172, pp. 382-385.

- Paul, R., Choi, A., Taylor, P., and Lee, P. Unpublished Data. Requests to be addressed to Dr. P. W. K. Lee. Faculty of Medicine. Dept. of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
- Pepinsky, R., Tizard, R., Mattaliano, R. et al. 1988. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. Vol. 263, pp. 10799-10811.
- Philipson, L., Lonberg-Holm, K., and Pettersson, U. 1968. *Journal of Virology.* Vol. 2, pp. 1064-1075.
- Powell, M., and Glenny, J. 1987. Biochemistry Journal. Vol. 247, pp. 321-328.
- Ragot, T., Vincent, N., Chafney, P., Vigne, E., Gilgenkrantz, H., and Couton, A. 1993. *Nature*. Vol. 361, pp. 647-650.
- Ralph, S., Harvey, J., and Bellamy, A. 1980. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 36, pp. 894-896.
- Rayment, I., Caspar, T., and Murakami, W. 1982. Nature. Vol. 295, pp. 110-115.
- Rhim, J., Smith, K., and Melnick, J. 1961. Virology. Vol. 15, pp. 428-435.
- Richardson, M., and Furuichi, Y. 1985. Journal of Virology. Vol. 56, pp. 527-533.
- Robbins, F., Enders, J., Weller, T., and Florentino, G. 1951. *American Journal of Hygine*. Vol. 54, pp. 286-293.
- Robitzki, A., Schroder, H., Ugarkovic, D., Gramzow, M., Fritsche, U., Batel, R., and Muller, E. 1990. *Biochemistry Journal.* Vol. 271, pp. 415-420.
- Rossman, M., Arnold, E., Erickson, J., Frankenberger, E., Griffith, J., Hecht, H., Johnson, J., Kamer, G., Luo, M., Mosser, A., Rueckert, R., Sherry, B., and Vriend, G. 1983. *Nature.* Vol. 317, pp. 145-153.
- Sakata, T., Iwigami, S., Tsuruta, Y et al. 1988. *Nucleic Acids Research*. Vol. 16, pp. 11818.
- Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E., and Mainiatis, T. 1989. <u>Molecular CLoning: A Laboratory</u> <u>Manual.</u> 2nd Ed. Nolan, C. (Ed.). Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press. Cold Spring Harbour, New York.
- Saris, C., Tack, B., Kristensen, T., Glenney, J. Jr., and Hunter, T. 1986. *Cell.* Vol. 46, pp. 201-212.

- Sauter, N., Glick, G., Crowther, R., Park, S., Eisen, M., Skehel, J., Knowles, J. and Wiley, D. 1992. *Proceedings of the National Acadamy of Sciences. USA*. Vol. 89, pp. 324-328.
- Sawutz, D., Bassel-Duby, R., and Honcy, C. 1987. Life Science. Vol. 40, pp. 399-406.
- Schlaepfer, D., and Haigler, H. 1987. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. Vol. 262, pp. 6931-6937.
- Schlaepfer, D., Fisher, D., Brandt, M., Bode, J., jones, J., and Haigler, H., 1992. Journal of Biological Chemistry. Vol. 267, pp. 9529-9539.
- Sharpe, A., and Fields, B. 1985. New England Journal of Medicine. Vol. 312, pp. 486-497.
- Shatkin, A. 1974. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA. Vol. 71, pp. 3204-3207.
- Shatkin, A., and Sipe, J. 1968. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science.* USA. Vol. 61, pp. 1462-1469.
- Skehel, J. and Waterfield, M. 1975. *Proceedings of the National Acadamy of Sciences. USA.* Vol. 72, pp. 93-97.
- Smith, C., Davis, T., Wignall, J., Din, W., Farrah, T., Upton, C., McFadden, G., and Goodwin, R. 1991. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* Vol. 176, pp. 335-342.
- Smith, T., Kremer, M., Luo, M., Vriend, G., Arnold, E., Kamer, G., Rossmann, M., McKinlay, M., Diana, G and Otto, M. *Science.* Vol. 233, pp. 1286-1293.
- Smith, V., and Dedman, J. eds. 1990. <u>The Role of Intracellular Calcium-Binding</u> <u>Proteins in Stimulus-Response Coupling</u>. CRC Press. pp. 1--20.
- Smith, V., and Dedman, J. 1986. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. Vol. 261, pp. 15815-15818.
- Smythe, E., Smith, P., Jacob, S., Theobald, J., and Moss, S. 1994. *Journal of Cell Biology.* Vol. 124, pp. 301-306.
- Spriggs, D., Bronson, R., and Fields, B. 1983. Science. Vol. 220, pp. 505-507.

Spriggs, D., and Fields, B. 1982. Nature. Vol. 297, pp. 68-70.

Stanley, N. 1961. Nature. Vol. 189. pp. 687.

- Stanley, N., Dorman, D., and Ponsford, J. 1953. *Aust. J. Exp. Biol. Med. Sci.* Vol. 31, pp. 147-160.
- Staunton, D., Merluzzi, V., Rothlein, R., Barton, R., Marlin, S., and Springer, T. 1989. *Cell.* Vol. 56, pp. 849-853.
- Strong, J., Leone, G., Duncan, R., Sharma, R, and Lee, P. 1991. Virology. Vol. 184, pp. 23-32.
- Strong, J., Tang, D., and Lee, P. 1993. Virology. Vol. 197, pp. 405-411.
- Sudhof, T., Slaughter, C., Leznicki, I., Barjon, P. and Reynolds, G. 1988. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Science. USA. Vol. 85, pp. 664-668.
- Tait, J., Sakata, M., McMullen, B. et al., 1988. *Biochemistry*. Vol. 27, pp. 6268-6276.
- Tamaki, M., Nakamura, E., Nishikubo, C., Sakata, T., Shin, M., and Teraoka, H. 1987. *Nucleic Acids Research.* Vol. 15, pp. 7637.
- Tang, D., Strong, J., and Lee, P. 1993. Virology. Vol. 197, pp. 412-414.
- Thom, D., Powell, A., Lloyd, C., and Rees, D. 1977. *Biochemistry Journal.* Vol. 168, pp. 187-194.
- Tosteson, M., Nibert, M., and Fields, B. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA.* Vol. 90(22), pp. 10549-10552.
- Towle, C., and Tredwell, B. 1992. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* Vol. 267, pp. 5416-5423.
- Wallner, B., Mattaliano, R., Hession, C. et al. 1986. Nature. Vol. 320, pp. 77-81.
- Weber, K., and Johnsson, N., Plessman, U. et al. 1987. *EMBO Journal.* Vol. 6, pp. 1599-1604.
- Weber, K., and Johnsson, N. 1986. FEBS Letters. Vol. 203, pp. 95-98.
- Webster, R., Brown, L., and Jackson, D. 1983. Virology. Vol. 126, pp. 587-599.
- Weiner, H., Drayna, D., Ayerill, D., Jr., and Fields, B. 1977. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA.* Vol. 74, pp. 5744-5748.

- Weiner, H., and Fields, B. 1977. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. Vol. 146, pp. 1305-1310.
- Weiner, H., Greene, M., and Fields, B. 1980. *Journal of Immunology*. Vol. 125, pp. 278-282.
- White, J., and Littman, D. 1989. Cell. Vol. 56, pp. 725-728.
- Wickham, T., Mathias, P., Cheresh, D., and Nemerow, G. 1993. *Cell.* Vol. 73, pp. 309-319.
- Wiley, D., and Skehel, J. 1987. Annual Review of Biochemistry. Vol. 56, pp. 365-394.
- Wright, J., Kurosky, A., and Wasi, S. 1994. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. Vol. 198, No. 3., pp. 983-989.
- Yeatman, T., Updyke, T., Kaetzell, M., Dedman, J., and Nicolson, G. 1993. *Clinical Experimental Metastasis.* Vol. 11, pp. 37-44.
- Yeung, M., Lim, D., Duncan, R., Shahrabadi, M., Cashdollar, L., and Lee, P. Virology. Vol. 170, pp. 62-70.
- Yewdell, J., Gerhard, W., and Bachi, T. 1983. *Journal of Virology*. Vol. 48, pp. 239-248.
- Yoshimura, A., D'Andrea, A., and Lodish, H. 1990. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA*. Vol. 87, pp. 4139.
- Zaks, W., and Creutz, C. 1991. Biochemistry. Vol. 30, pp. 9607-9615.